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 1 TUESDAY MORNING, NOVEMBER 17, 2009  

 2 THE COURT:  Okay.  Are the parties ready to bring

 3 the jury in?

 4 MS. ROSE:  Yes, sir, the government is ready.

 5 THE COURT:  Okay.  May we have the jury, please.

 6 (Jury entered the courtroom.)

 7 THE COURT:  Good morning, members of the jury.

 8 THE JURY:  Good morning.

 9 THE COURT:  As you know, we were hearing evidence  on

10 the defense side.

11 You may call your next witness.

12 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Okay.  The defense call s

13 Walker Todd.

14 WALKER F. TODD, 

15 being first duly sworn, was examined and testifie d as follows: 

16 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

17 BY DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  

18 Q. Mr. Todd, would you please state your name for the

19 record, sir.

20 A. Yes.  My name is Walker F. Todd.  And I live ne ar

21 Cleveland, Ohio.

22 Q. Okay.  Would you share with the jury your resum e and

23 professional background, please.

24 A. Right.  The relevant part of my background for this case

25 is that I worked for 20 years for the Federal Res erve Banks of
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 1 New York and Cleveland.  I was a legal officer at  the Federal

 2 Reserve Bank of New York.  I was a legal officer and an

 3 economic research officer at the Federal Reserve Bank of

 4 Cleveland.  I left the Federal Reserve in 1994.  And I've been

 5 active more in economic research than in legal is sues since

 6 then.

 7 Most recently I've been employed by the American

 8 Institute for Economic Research in Great Barringt on,

 9 Massachusetts, and among other things we supervis e courses on

10 money and banking.

11 Q. Thank you.  I believe it was agreed with the pr osecution

12 that we would have you make some introductory sta tements.

13 Would you care to do that.

14 A. Yes.  This is not my first appearance as an exp ert

15 witness in trials of this nature.  I would guess that I have

16 testified in about 15 to 20 criminal or high leve l civil cases

17 relating to issues not unlike this, and we found over the

18 years it's useful for the jury to make an early s tatement.

19 What I'd like to do would be to couch the testimo ny as a

20 statement about what is money.  What are the orig ins of money.

21 Theories about money and how they relate to the m odern

22 American banking system.  And then secondly, to d eal with

23 questions about what these defendants believed ab out money and

24 banking.  And then the third phase would be quest ions about is

25 there a gap between what they believed and what I 'm going to
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 1 assert for you the reality of money and banking i s and was

 2 their belief reasonable.  And the prosecution, of  course, will

 3 have its own set of questions about this.  But th at's what I

 4 intend to do if that's agreeable.

 5 MR. ODULIO:  Your Honor...

 6 THE COURT:  Yes.

 7 MR. ODULIO:  Most of that is agreeable with the

 8 government.  We'd ask the witness not comment on the

 9 reasonableness of the asserted belief.

10 THE COURT:  Well, we'll take that up --

11 MR. ODULIO:  I think that's a question for the ju ry.

12 THE COURT:  We'll take that up if there's an

13 objection.

14 MR. ODULIO:  Yes, sir.

15 THE WITNESS:  Right.  And I agree and understand

16 that it is not my duty; rather, it's the court's or the jury

17 to opine on the reasonableness of these beliefs.

18 THE COURT:  Yes, sir.  And on exactly what a

19 defendant believed at a certain time.

20 THE WITNESS:  Correct.  Exactly.  They will be

21 asking me questions about, say, a particular theo ry of money

22 and my role, I think, has to be to explain how th at theory

23 does or does not relate to classical standard bel iefs about

24 money and banking.

25 Well, what is money?  That's the oldest question
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 1 really in the whole field of economics.  Economic s is a term

 2 that was defined by the Greek philosopher Aristot le in the

 3 middle of the 4th century BC.  He thought money r epresented

 4 demand.  It was a store of the things you could b uy in the

 5 future in exchange for present transactions and g oods and

 6 services.

 7 Later, let's say in the 18th century, the foremos t

 8 writer about economics then was a Scottish philos opher named

 9 Adam Smith; and his book, "The Wealth of Nations, " is great

10 reading for those who are inclined to read 18th c entury

11 documents, which I confess I am.  But he would ha ve said,

12 rather, that money is more a store of value on th e supply side

13 of the equation.  That is, if I have money, I can  use it to

14 satisfy my demands in the future.

15 A general definition is that money is something

16 that's both a store of value and it's a unit of e xchange.  In

17 that store of value function, it serves as a unit  of account.

18 The unit of exchange traditionally was gold or si lver, coin or

19 bullion.  And the U.S. currency was created aroun d 1792 when

20 Congress passed a statute that defined the curren cy as a

21 dollar; and the dollar, in turn, was defined as s o many units

22 of gold, and a ratio was prescribed for the conve rtibility of

23 gold into silver at a fixed ratio.

24 But basically, if you follow that line of thinkin g,

25 money would be a unit of exchange, this dollar, a nd it would
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 1 have a certain weight in gold or silver.

 2 In parallel, and not to be ignored, is this money  of

 3 account concept.  I might borrow, say, a hundred dollars from

 4 you.  But as modern banking practices evolved, yo u might not

 5 actually reach in your pocket and hand me a hundr ed dollars.

 6 You might hand me a check for a hundred dollars d rawn on your

 7 account at a bank, and I can take your check and deposit it in

 8 my account and get a value for it from my bank.  So I borrowed

 9 a hundred dollars and I owe it back to you, but a s between the

10 two of us, it's a unit of account matter as oppos ed to a unit

11 of exchange matter.

12 And so these terms are going to come up throughou t

13 this testimony:  What's a unit of account?  What' s a unit of

14 exchange?

15 And the third set of concepts about money that's

16 relevant would be inside money versus outside mon ey.  The

17 founding fathers dealt with a world in which it w ould be fair

18 to say that money was something that existed by c ustom and

19 tradition among the people.  You can ask when did  people start

20 using gold or silver, for example, as monetary un its?  When

21 did that happen?  The answer goes back to the beg inning of

22 time.  There's a story in the, I think it's the 2 3rd chapter

23 of Genesis where Abraham buys a tomb that he braw ned for his

24 wife Sarah who had died and he weighs out silver when he buys

25 the tomb.  They brought out a balance scale and h e put silver
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 1 on the balance scale, and the silver he paid out was probably

 2 bullion of some kind, but it was of a fineness th at was

 3 generally accepted by merchants in the marketplac e.

 4 So it goes back a very long way this use of money ,

 5 modern forms of money.  But they had money at the  time.  The

 6 people had money.  Abraham had it.  No king had g iven him

 7 money.  So the founding fathers would put it that  the people

 8 have money and the government through taxation tr ies to get it

 9 from you.  That's the classical theory of money.

10 There's a competing utilitarian view of money tha t's

11 also probably the most widespread belief about mo ney today and

12 that is that the government is the sole source of  authority on

13 money.  Something is not money unless the governm ent says it

14 is.

15 I happen to be just old enough to have known

16 personally some of the original drafters of the U niform

17 Commercial Code when I was a young lawyer in New York and I

18 had discussions with them about this issue.  I sa id when you

19 were debating the Uniform Commercial Code, what d id you guys

20 think about the origin of money?  And the answer was the code

21 was drafted so as to give validity to the

22 government-must-define-it school of thought that' s valid under

23 the code.

24 But if you read the official comments carefully i n

25 the UCC, Uniform Commercial Code -- by the way, t his thing was
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 1 drafted in the 1950s.  That's when this came to - - but anyway,

 2 the draftsmen said we clearly want to recognize t he older,

 3 classical theory of money.  Money is that which e xists by

 4 custom and tradition and we don't want to exclude  money

 5 classically defined from the code.  So it's sort of a

 6 two-stage analysis.  Stage one money is what the government

 7 says it is.  But stage two still exists in the ba ckground:

 8 Money is that which the people by custom and trad ition have

 9 adopted as money.

10 Now, how does banking fit into all of this?  And

11 this will be the last part of this introductory p art of the

12 talk.  The idea of banks has always been controve rsial in

13 western European societies and in the United Stat es from the

14 beginning.  When the Constitution was written, th ere were only

15 four banks in existence in the United States and they were all

16 north of the Potomac River.  Because of this peop le from the

17 southern and western states were always skeptical  about

18 whether banks were central to the existence of th e people.

19 Could they get along without them?  The State of Texas was the

20 most extreme example of that view.  Until 1905 or  so, the

21 State of Texas Constitution prohibited banking in side the

22 state of Texas.  You couldn't be a banker inside Texas.  They

23 used currency notes that they brought in from out  of state.

24 They used gold, they used silver, they used cattl e and other

25 things.
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 1 So that's one view:  There shouldn't be any banks .

 2 Andrew Jackson from my native state of Tennessee was

 3 one of those fellows who didn't like banks very m uch, and he

 4 said let it be a warning to you.  But if you dig out a $20

 5 bill, you see the picture of Andrew Jackson on a Federal

 6 Reserve Note, paper money.  And there were two th ings Andrew

 7 Jackson hated in life:  Central banks and paper m oney.  So you

 8 have to be careful about the way you live because  after you're

 9 gone, you may be honored in the thing you hate th e most.  So

10 you have to be careful about that.

11 On the flipside, during the Civil War, Abraham

12 Lincoln said, you know, we, the union, are runnin g up monster

13 debts to fight this war and we don't quite know h ow we're

14 going to pay for it.  His Treasury secretary, Sal mon Chase,

15 who later became chief justice of the Supreme Cou rt.  Chase

16 was originally a lawyer in Cincinnati.  He drafte d the -- or

17 compiled the first Ohio Code, the Ohio Revised Co de.  It was

18 originally something that Chase put together.  An d he was a

19 bit of an expert on banking.  He was later govern or of the

20 State of Ohio and then a U.S. senator before join ing Lincoln's

21 cabinet.

22 And he was the Treasury secretary and he went to

23 Lincoln and said let's charter a new system of ba nks called

24 national banks and they will be allowed to issue currency

25 notes sort of like our modern Federal Reserve Not es.  But in
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 1 return for the privilege, they will have to buy g overnment

 2 debt as we, the Treasury, issue it.  So the reser ves against

 3 the currency would be the debt that the banks hav e purchased.

 4 Okay.  And the system worked reasonably well for about 50

 5 years after the war.  For a variety of reasons we  won't get

 6 into, in the period roughly 1907 to 1913, it was decided that

 7 we needed a new, stronger form of central bank an d that's when

 8 the Federal Reserve was created.

 9 But in the first 20 years of the Fed's existence

10 from 1913 to 1933, there were at least four compe ting currency

11 systems still equally valid in the United States:   gold

12 certificates, silver certificates, national bank notes, and

13 Federal Reserve Notes.  And your grandpa knew the  difference

14 among them and which was better to hold than the other thing.

15 And you might even encounter commercial obligatio ns, drafts,

16 bills of exchange, banker's acceptances, and the like.  And

17 your grandpa knew the difference among these thin gs.

18 But since 1933 there's only been one standard for m

19 of currency, Federal Reserve Notes.  And the silv er

20 certificates were pulled out in the '60s.  There' s only a

21 little bit of Treasury currency still in circulat ion.

22 So basically, if you ask anyone what's money toda y.

23 Whip out a dollar bill from your pocket.  It's a Federal

24 Reserve Note and it says it's a legal tender.

25 Okay.  If you go down to the Fed and you say what
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 1 can I get in exchange for my note?  Can I get gol d or silver,

 2 for example?  The answer is no.  All we'll give y ou is one

 3 crisp, shiny, new Federal Reserve Note.

 4 So what is the backing for these Federal Reserve

 5 Notes, the legal tender paper?  And the backing i s the taxing

 6 power of the United States.  Federal Reserve Note s under the

 7 Federal Reserve Act are defined as a full faith a nd credit

 8 obligation of the United States.  So that means t hat should

 9 there be a default in payment of Federal Reserve Notes, the

10 government has the right to raise taxes to fully back the

11 notes and their -- I won't get into the technical ity of how

12 that backing is done, but there is still a residu al form of

13 backing of Federal Reserve Notes in the Fed's acc ounting

14 system today.

15 So anyway, with that I'll stop the main line of t he

16 presentation and I'll be glad to answer any quest ions either

17 side has about it, but go ahead and proceed with the

18 questioning.

19 Q. Thank you, Mr. Todd.

20 So based on your discussion, what is a dollar?

21 A. A dollar is a unit of account that also is a un it of

22 exchange.  For most people today the dollar is ba sically a

23 unit of account.  But originally, it was intended  to be a unit

24 of exchange, something that was defined as so man y grains,

25 minor weight, or so many grams of gold or silver in whatever
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 1 the statutorily defined ratio was.  But a dollar is a unit of

 2 account, but it's also a unit of exchange.

 3 Q. What is a bill of credit?

 4 A. A bill of credit is a promissory note typically  issued by

 5 a governmental entity that would promise to pay v alue to the

 6 bearer or the holder in -- at some future date.  Usually bills

 7 of credit were issued for a short term, 30, 60, 9 0 days.  The

 8 most recent public example of a bill of credit we re the

 9 warrants that Governor Schwarzenegger ordered iss ued in

10 California to pay the state's bills while the sta te did not

11 have a budget approved.  And so that -- and my fa ther told me

12 that in the depression he was paid this way as a school

13 teacher by some of the local school districts tha t didn't have

14 money.

15 So the bill of credit or the warrant just says I,  the

16 Municipality of Statesville, will pay to the hold er a hundred

17 dollars 60 days after the date of issue, whatever .  And that's

18 a bill of credit.

19 Q. And are bills of credit by states authorized in  the

20 Constitution?

21 A. No, the constitutional framers decided to prohi bit the

22 states -- well, let me put it this way.  They can not issue

23 bills of credit that are required to be accepted as a legal

24 tender.  States can issue bills of credit, munici palities can

25 too, but they just can't be made a legal tender.
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 1 Q. Okay.  Thank you.  Did the Committee of Style d eny this

 2 authority to the federal government?

 3 A. I believe you're referring to the Committee of Style

 4 drafting the Constitution --

 5 Q. Yes.

 6 A. -- right?

 7 And my opinion is that the committee did not deny  this

 8 power to the Constitution -- to the federal gover nment.

 9 The -- the particular account of that part of the  debate

10 showed that the framers did not want to tie the h ands of the

11 federal government during an emergency.  I think there was a

12 standing assumption that in normal times, only go ld and silver

13 would be a legal tender.  But in an emergency, if  the federal

14 government felt it had to issue paper currency, t hey were to

15 be allowed to do so.

16 The states, however, could not issue a paper curr ency and

17 call it a legal tender.

18 Q. Okay.  So are we in an emergency now?

19 A. Well, I suppose we are in the sense that we hav e legal

20 tender out there, legal tender paper.  What happe ned was the

21 Emergency Banking Act of March 9th, 1933, it's st ill in

22 effect.  It's never been repealed.

23 And so I have a friend in Colorado who's a bit of  an

24 expert on these things and he says we're now in t he 76th year

25 of the emergency regarding legal tender.  But whe n does the
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 1 emergency end?

 2 Q. Okay.  You've mentioned the Emergency Banking A ct of

 3 March 9th, 1933.  Is there anything else that wou ld have been

 4 indicative of the government becoming insolvent o n or about

 5 that date?

 6 A. The main thing that happened that's relevant wa s the Gold

 7 Reserve Act of January 30th, 1934.  Under the Gol d Reserve

 8 Act, the president was authorized to devalue the dollar

 9 against gold within a certain prescribed statutor y limit.  And

10 in effect, President Roosevelt wound up ordering the Treasury

11 secretary to devalue gold down to -- the dollar a gainst gold

12 down to about 59 cents on the dollar versus its p rior value.

13 So it was a little bit over a 40 percent devaluat ion.

14 Q. So can you give a professional opinion as a con clusion of

15 whether or not the United States went bankrupt?

16 A. Objectively measured, you would say that that w as an

17 insolvency, a bankruptcy because you had to settl e your

18 previous debts for 60 cents on the dollar, in eff ect.  Legally

19 it was not so defined, but an economist would say , yes, that

20 was a bankruptcy.

21 Q. Okay.  Thank you.  Can you pay a debt with a Fe deral

22 Reserve Note or only discharge a debt?

23 A. If I understand the question properly, I believ e the

24 answer is that you discharge a debt by tendering a legal

25 tender note.  The question of is it full payment and ultimate
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 1 satisfaction, this has been a matter of some deba te.  Depends

 2 on the various state formulations of the Uniform Commercial

 3 Code, but in New York, which is sort of the commo n standard,

 4 the view would be that you have in fact satisfied  the debt by

 5 offering the legal tender note equivalent in valu e to whatever

 6 the thing was that was being transacted on any pa rticular day.

 7 It usually comes up in foreign exchange agreement s in New

 8 York.

 9 Q. Are the people of the nation now a surety for t he U.S.

10 debt?

11 A. I suppose you could say that in a roundabout wa y.  It

12 gets back to that point I made about full faith a nd credit.  A

13 Federal Reserve Note or U.S. public debt, these a re full faith

14 and credit obligations of the United States.  And  what that

15 means is that the taxing power of the government backs that

16 promise so that if the debt cannot be paid any ot her way, the

17 government can raise taxes to pay it.

18 Q. The creditors of the United States, whoever the y are, do

19 they -- would they have any claim to other than t axes?  Say

20 the actual physical assets or property of the nat ion?

21 A. My opinion is that a foreign creditor has no di rect claim

22 on physical property owned by private citizens.  Whether they

23 would be able to assert a claim on the national p arks, for

24 example, or any other public property of the Unit ed States,

25 that's another story.  It would be the middle cas e.  I would
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 1 argue that they do not, but the European view of the matter is

 2 they would probably assert that they do.  And as for a claim

 3 to the future labor of the citizens of the United  States, I

 4 think they would say the government has a duty to  raise taxes

 5 enough to pay their debts.

 6 Q. As an economist, is it right to be able to mort gage our

 7 future without our consent?  I mean, how does tha t power come

 8 about?  What's the exchange?

 9 MR. ODULIO:  Objection.  Relevance, Your Honor.

10 THE COURT:  Sustained.

11 Q. Okay.  What was the rate of inflation generally  between

12 1789 and 1933?

13 MR. ODULIO:  Same objection, Your Honor.

14 THE COURT:  Overruled.

15 A. The tables began around 1792 with the second in auguration

16 of George Washington as president.  And in 1933 t he purchasing

17 power of the dollar was the same as it was when G eorge

18 Washington was sworn in that second time.  It's l argely

19 because the dollar had been linked one for one to  the gold

20 standard and it still was on gold in 1933.

21 The pattern historically is that in an inflation,  the

22 dollar's value will drop some.  In a war, the dol lar would

23 drop some.  But in a recession, the dollar's valu e would

24 recover above par.  And on the whole, the dollar came out

25 about the same as where it was, purchasing power the same from
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 1 beginning of the republic until 1933.

 2 Q. And since?

 3 A. Since '33, I think the factor of inflation now is about

 4 14, meaning that a 1933 dollar is worth about 7 c ents.

 5 Q. Okay.  What causes this devaluation of the mone y?

 6 A. Basically, printing money causes inflation.  Mi lton

 7 Friedman said it best when he said that inflation  is

 8 everywhere and at all times a monetary problem.  It's the

 9 quantity of money in circulation versus the suppl y of goods

10 and services that determines the inflation rate.

11 Q. Okay.  A promissory note for a mortgage was pla ced into

12 evidence.  What is the source of funding in a hom e mortgage?

13 A. If I understand your question properly, you're asking

14 what is the real source of the money that's in pl ay in a

15 mortgage exchange when a borrower obtains a mortg age from a

16 bank.  And it's a two-stage process.

17 Stage one is the borrower signs a promissory note  at the

18 bank and under modern fractional reserve banking,  the bank

19 does not actually have to have money in the bank deposits

20 equal to the value of what it is paying out under  the mortgage

21 note.  The bank typically would take the note and  pledge it or

22 sell it to some other entity.  Or if it's a pledg e, at the

23 Federal Reserve or at the federal home loan bank of its

24 district.  So the bank would recover its monetary  value that

25 way.
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 1 The bank, however, in a modern transaction typica lly

 2 gives you a check for the value of the mortgage o r a check

 3 will be drawn on itself as a rule or it will adva nce a credit

 4 to the previous mortgage holder on the property e xtinguishing

 5 your debt.

 6 So what the bank has done is it issues its own cr edit to

 7 pay off prior debts, but it does not obtain money  other than

 8 by taking your promissory note and pledging it to  somebody

 9 else.

10 Q. Does the bank create money out of thin air?

11 A. Under a fractional reserve banking system, that  is in

12 effect what happens.  The Federal Reserve require s the bank to

13 maintain about 10 percent of any deposit -- deman d deposit in

14 reserve.  So the rate of expansion is about nine to one so

15 that when the bank discounts your promissory note  at the

16 Federal Reserve, 10 percent of that is real money  and the

17 other 90 percent is thin air money, as you would put it.

18 Q. So every mortgage is inflationary.

19 A. It is potentially inflationary.  The inflation comes in

20 when more mortgages are issued than the real unde rlying demand

21 for housing.  Once you get the supply of money ex panding

22 beyond what the real demand is, then the inflatio n kicks in.

23 Q. Does this 90 percent or 9X or this money out of  thin air

24 become an obligation of the United States?

25 A. It becomes an obligation of the United States i n a

Case 1:08-cr-00055-RLV-DCK   Document 186    Filed 12/07/10   Page 20 of 132



WALKER TODD - DIRECT

   559

 1 roundabout way because when the bank pledges the note at the

 2 Federal Reserve, your borrower's mortgage note pl edged at the

 3 Fed, the bank that did the borrowing from the Fed  has the

 4 right to withdraw what the Fed is paying in Feder al Reserve

 5 Notes, currency.  And those notes are an obligati on of the

 6 United States.

 7 Q. Okay.  Does this meet the constitutional requir ement for

 8 an appropriation by Congress to take on debt?

 9 A. Legally I think the wisdom of the system would say yes, I

10 think the obligation has been met.  Whether econo mically this

11 is true is another story.

12 Q. Why does the Redemption debt discharge process stay alive

13 for so long in this country or why has it?

14 A. Okay.  My usual story on that question is somet hing like

15 this.  There's this theory I first encountered in  the western

16 states.  It's called Redemption theory.  And the essence of it

17 is that everybody is credited with a certain valu e attached to

18 his name or social security number at the Treasur y when you

19 are born.  And in effect, you have a lifetime ear nings

20 expectation, and let's say that was $600,000, ave rage citizen,

21 and that you have a right to go borrow against th at value at

22 the Treasury.

23 The origin of this theory, as near as I can tell,  is

24 Canadian social credit theory.  This is an idea t hat was born

25 on the prairies of western Canada and became wide ly popular up
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 1 there in the early part of the 20th century.  By mid century,

 2 the social credit party controlled the Parliament , so the

 3 provinces of the prairies in Canada.  And eventua lly those

 4 ideas trickled down into the northern high plains  states.  So

 5 if you traveled in Montana, Wyoming, North Dakota  in the last

 6 30 years or so, you would probably encounter some  variation of

 7 this theory.

 8 But as regards to the United States, there is no basis

 9 for this theory.  That's been propagated by peopl e who think

10 that there are secret Treasury accounts linked to  your social

11 security number, for example, but near as I can t ell, these

12 theories are all bogus.  But they are -- their or igin is, I

13 think, wishful thinking about applying Canadian s ocial credit

14 theory down here in the United States.

15 Q. Do the American people have a claim against the

16 government for pledging their property in terms o f their

17 earnings against the national debt?

18 A. That's what the Constitution is all about.  It lays out

19 the terms of the agreement between the people on the one side

20 and the government on the other.  I would not mys elf go so far

21 as to say that the American people have a claim a gainst the

22 government because of running up a national debt.   I think

23 it's a moral problem.  I think it's a monetary pr oblem.  It's

24 a fiscal problem.  And I think government can mis behave in

25 running up debt for improper schemes.
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 1 Whether the person -- the public has a personal r emedy

 2 against the government for doing that, that's a w hole

 3 different ball game.  There's all kinds of cases,  theories,

 4 lines of law typically related to Federal Court C laims Act,

 5 for example, that would lay out how you go about pursuing a

 6 claim against the government.  But generally spea king, it's --

 7 I think there is a Supreme Court case about 20 ye ars ago that

 8 expressed it pretty well saying, regrettably, you r remedy here

 9 is at the ballot box.  You have to change the pol iticians.

10 There's no private remedy against the government for these

11 sorts of things.

12 Q. You've already addressed that the banking emerg ency is

13 still in force.  You've written on the corporatiz ation of the

14 United States, and I think you brought one of you r books here.

15 A. Uh-huh.

16 Q. How is that significant?

17 A. I think what you mean is is the United States, the

18 government, a body corporate?  Is it a corporatio n?  The

19 answer, I think, is yes, the U.S. is a form of co rporation.

20 But a corporation in the general sense means orig inally a

21 voluntary agreement of citizens to create some en tity that

22 will survive their personal lives, their private lives, their

23 material lives, and would have certain rights, pr operty rights

24 in particular that would be peculiar to that corp orate entity.

25 The United States is such a corporation.  That's what the
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 1 Constitution is all about ultimately, and before it the

 2 Articles of Confederation.  It is a body corporat e.

 3 Q. How about national associations, GSE's, are the y

 4 extensions of that corporate charter?

 5 A. National associations, meaning like national ba nks?

 6 Q. Yes, sir.

 7 A. Yes.  National banks under the old National Ban k Act of

 8 the Civil War era, they were corporations charter ed by

 9 Congress.  So they were certainly bodies corporat e.  

10 And what was the last one you asked about?

11 Q. GSE's, even the Federal Reserve.

12 A. Government sponsored enterprises, that's a -- G SE, that's

13 a modern term of art.  But the Federal Reserve al so is a

14 corporation chartered by Congress just like the o ld national

15 banks.  In fact, the original Federal Reserve cha rters came

16 from the Comptroller of the Currency just as thou gh the Fed

17 were a standard national bank.

18 But modern government sponsored enterprises typic ally

19 were created during the 1930s and -- more recent ones too, of

20 course, but they're a little bit different.  But some of them

21 are corporate entities separate from the United S tates.

22 Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac, for example, original ly were such

23 bodies, but they've been brought back into the fo ld.  And

24 Fannie Mae and Freddie Mac doesn't quite have ful l faith and

25 credit status but it's getting close.
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 1 Q. Didn't the Committee of Style have a specific v ote on

 2 giving Congress the power to incorporate?

 3 A. I'm sorry, I missed the first part of your ques tion.

 4 Q. Didn't the Committee of Style that we mentioned  earlier

 5 have a specific vote on giving Congress the power  to

 6 incorporate?

 7 A. Yes.  Again, I think you're referring to the

 8 constitutional framers Committee of Style.  Did t hey vote on

 9 the power to incorporate?  And yes, they did.  Th e power to

10 incorporate lost on a vote of the states eight to  three.  But

11 this issue was revived, then, in 1791 by Alexande r Hamilton

12 with his proposal to create a central bank, the F irst Bank of

13 the United States and the Supreme Court case of McCulloch

14 versus Maryland.  In 1819 Justice Marshall, Chief Justice

15 Marshall ruled that the implied powers of the Con stitution

16 give Congress the power to create national bank c harters.  And

17 all modern corporations essentially are descended  from those

18 corporations and that ruling.

19 Q. Well, but as a constitutional scholar, the stat es

20 withheld that.  How can the Supreme Court give th e federal

21 government something the states specifically with held?

22 A. I think the fair reading of that would be that the

23 Supreme Court found another route to accomplish w hat was being

24 asked apart from the specific vote at the constit utional

25 convention.  Once again, you can ask whether this  is proper,
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 1 but it's legal.

 2 Q. Is there any gold in Ft. Knox?

 3 A. It's -- I've not seen it.  The last audit was i n a

 4 partial audit in the late 1970s.  People periodic ally ask for

 5 an audit at Ft. Knox.  I remember the auditor's m axim that

 6 physical assets that remain in one place uninspec ted for too

 7 long tend to disappear.  So I personally would ad vocate an

 8 audit, but so far the bills in Congress that are being

 9 considered about auditing the Federal Reserve do not yet

10 include an audit of Ft. Knox.  But I did send a l etter to a

11 relevant congressional staffer last week asking t hat a

12 Ft. Knox audit be added to the Fed audit bill.

13 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Thank you.  Just a mome nt.

14 (Defendants conferred.) 

15 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Okay.  I yield to

16 Mr. Lewis.

17 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

18 BY DEFENDANT HUGHES:  

19 Q. Mr. Todd, what's the difference between a BOE, bill of

20 exchange, and a closed account check?

21 A. As I understand the question, a check drawn on a closed

22 account at a bank, it is in form a bill of exchan ge because a

23 check is a bill of exchange, so legally the form is the same.

24 It's what happens that is different.  The closed account check

25 won't go anywhere.  A bill of exchange might go s omewhere.
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 1 Q. Is the bank liable when it fails to follow inst ructions

 2 printed on a check?

 3 A. Okay.  Here you have to parse narrowly the stan dard

 4 instructions that a bank knows it has to comply w ith with an

 5 ordinary form bill of exchange or a draft or a ch eck.

 6 Nonstandard instructions go into a separate chain  of

 7 collection.  When I was at the Federal Reserve, w e had two

 8 sets of collection.  We called one cash collectio n.  That was

 9 standard form items.  And noncash collection.  An d that would

10 be, for example, bills of exchange with documents  attached or

11 bills of exchange that had nonstandard instructio ns on them.

12 So it was just a separate channel of handling.

13 Q. Okay.  If a check is made out to two people, sa y John and

14 Henry, and only John signs and cashes the check, what is the

15 bank's liability if Henry doesn't get his share o f the check

16 from John?

17 A. Okay.  There the bank might be liable to Henry because --

18 the second person in your example.  The story is that if a

19 check is made out payable to John and Henry, then  in theory,

20 both signatures are required for cashing that che ck.  But if

21 the bank pays out John or Henry, then either one could cash

22 the check.  But in the example you gave me, it wa s John and

23 Henry, so the bank should be liable to Henry for failure to

24 honor the instruction.

25 Q. Okay.  In your role as an examiner for the Fede ral
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 1 Reserve, would you have determined that the bills  of exchange,

 2 which are Exhibits B and C in this case, to have been valid?

 3 A. Well, I've been shown some exhibits before, but  I don't

 4 know which.  If you were referring to bills of ex change of the

 5 sort that I was shown by both the prosecution and  the defense

 6 prior to the testimony, I would have rejected the m.  My -- I

 7 wasn't officially an examiner of the Fed.  I was a lawyer and

 8 an economist.  But one of my legal duties was I w as the

 9 discount windows lawyer.  So whenever strange doc uments came

10 into the bank, I would be called over to the disc ount window

11 to look at them and decide whether we were going to take them

12 or not.  And so I would have been called to look at these

13 instruments if they had shown up at the Federal R eserve and I

14 would have rejected them.  But remember that I am  an expert

15 and I see a lot of these documents and I can quic kly detect

16 nonconforming things.  Some cases a layman might be fooled;

17 other cases he might not.

18 Q. What kind of notification would have been retur ned to the

19 maker of the instrument that they were not valid?

20 A. Okay.  At the Federal Reserve, we would have ch arged back

21 the account of the bank that gave us that instrum ent.  There

22 are some cases where the instruments came in and there was no

23 bank identifiable who could be charged, in which case they

24 just came to rest at the Fed until we dealt with it.

25 But typically if an instrument comes in and isn't  paid or
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 1 can't be paid, you charge it back up the chain of  collection.

 2 So the Fed would go back to Bank of America, for example, and

 3 say that check you gave us was no good, give us o ur money

 4 back.  And then Bank of America in turn would go to whoever

 5 gave it the check and say the check was no good, give us our

 6 money back, and the chain of collection would be reversed.

 7 Q. Okay.  What is a setoff account?

 8 A. A setoff account is actually common practice

 9 traditionally in banking.  Under the common law, persons

10 engaged in a business of banking would have asser ted a right

11 of setoff against other assets of an obligor that  came into

12 their possession once something that was a primar y instrument

13 to the banker was not paid.

14 An illustration would be suppose you had an accou nt at

15 Bank of America and you overdrew the account by, say, $10,000,

16 and then you take the next airplane for Venezuela  never to be

17 seen again.  What is the bank going to do?  And t he answer is

18 suppose a trailing paycheck for you, your boss st ill owed you

19 money, paycheck comes into that account, but it's  $10,000

20 overdrawn.  The bank would set off the money you owe it

21 against that paycheck that suddenly came in to it s possession.

22 In New York under the New York banking law, there  is a

23 banker's right of setoff that is spelled out in t he banking

24 statute.  The practice is similar in every state and the

25 Federal Reserve has certain rules about it.  But the governing
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 1 law, the original law was the New York law and so me states

 2 will have something similar.  Others won't.  But anyway,

 3 setoff works that way.  It's a -- in New York it' s a statutory

 4 right.  In another state it might be a common law  right of the

 5 banker to try to recover from any new asset that shows up on

 6 account of a previously existing debt.

 7 Q. Okay.  Could you speak a little bit to the theo ry of why

 8 we might have thought that it works and would be legal for us

 9 to use.

10 MR. ODULIO:  Objection to that, Your Honor.

11 THE COURT:  Overruled.

12 MR. ODULIO:  May we be heard on that?

13 THE COURT:  Yes.

14 Members of the jury, we'll take a morning break a t

15 this time.  You may step out and we'll call for y ou in about

16 10 or 15 minutes.

17 (Jury exited the courtroom.)

18 THE COURT:  All right.  You may be heard.

19 MR. ODULIO:  Your Honor, we would just object --

20 note our objection to this line of testimony.  Th e

21 government's position is that Rule 704(b) is appl icable in

22 this area in that the question is seeking to elic it from an

23 expert witness an opinion concerning the mental s tate or

24 condition of the defendant as to whether or not t he defendant

25 did or did not have the mental state constituting  an element
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 1 of the charged offense.  As the court is aware --

 2 THE COURT:  You may have misunderstood the questi on.

 3 It was apparently carefully worded to ask whether  -- whether

 4 it's -- in essence, whether anyone could have had  a reasonable

 5 belief that that exchange might have worked, that  setoff might

 6 have been proper.  Didn't ask what the state of m ind of these

 7 defendants was.

 8 MR. ODULIO:  I thought he said we, Your Honor.

 9 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  What I said was would he speak  to

10 the theory that we might have looked at that woul d cause us to

11 think that these were proper and legal.

12 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  You need to make it

13 general.  Don't talk about us.

14 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  All right.  Can I reword it?

15 Would you speak to the theory of why people would  think that

16 this works and is legal.

17 THE COURT:  That would be fine.

18 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

19 THE COURT:  Any objection to that?

20 MR. ODULIO:  We would, Your Honor, just because o f

21 the potential confusion of the jury.  I think, Yo ur Honor,

22 they're trying to elicit, again, the notion of wh ether or not

23 this belief is reasonable.  I think it's ultimate ly -- that's

24 an ultimate issue for the jury to consider in mak ing a

25 determination under its verdict, whether or not, number one,
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 1 the belief is held in good faith.  And, you know,  a component

 2 of that certainly, Your Honor, is whether or not it's

 3 reasonable.  So I don't think the testimony of th e witness

 4 would be appropriate there.  Certainly the defend ants could

 5 draw that inference as the government can make an  inference.

 6 But neither party should be allowed to elicit tha t kind of

 7 testimony.

 8 THE COURT:  Well, I don't think it's confusing to

 9 the jury.  The witness has been testifying all al ong about

10 realities and also certain theories and commented  on it, and

11 that's essentially what he's being asked to do he re.  So as

12 long as your question is properly worded, the obj ection is

13 overruled.

14 MR. ODULIO:  Thank you, sir.

15 THE COURT:  We'll take a ten minute break.

16 (Brief recess at 11:35 a.m.)

17 THE COURT:  May we have the jury, please.

18 And I would ask the witness to return.

19 (Witness resumed the witness stand.)

20 (Jury entered the courtroom.)

21 THE COURT:  All right.  To pick up where we were,

22 would you ask your question again, please.

23 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Yes, sir.

24 WALKER F. TODD 

25 DIRECT EXAMINATION (Cont'd) 
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 1 BY DEFENDANT HUGHES:  

 2 Q. Mr. Todd, would you speak to the theory of why people in

 3 the public might think these sorts of things woul d work and

 4 why they would think they would be legal.

 5 A. I'm assuming you are referring to instruments o f the type

 6 that I was shown before testifying.

 7 Q. Yes.

 8 A. Yes.  It's my experience -- remember that I am an expert

 9 and so I could fairly quickly decipher these inst ruments as

10 something that looked real or not.  But I have se en many of

11 these instruments in the past where they were pre tty well

12 done, fairly easily calculated, I think, in their  form to

13 deceive the layman or to make someone who didn't understand

14 fully what they were, not realize what they were and take them

15 at face value.  There's been many instances where  these things

16 have been taken at face value, either by a mercha nt or into

17 the banking system, for example.

18 The problem always arises in the chain of collect ion

19 where they come to rest because ultimately there' s no way they

20 can be redeemed, but I suppose you have to be a c hain of

21 collections expert to know that there's no way it  can be

22 redeemed at the end of the day.  If you floated a n instrument

23 into the chain of collection, how do you know wha t's going to

24 happen to it unless you have some line of experti se in that

25 area.
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 1 Q. Would you say that on the part of the people, t hat it was

 2 ignorance or criminal intent?

 3 MR. ODULIO:  Objection to that, Your Honor.

 4 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 5 Q. Okay.  Let me ask the question a different way,  then.

 6 Given that there seemed to be only about a dozen marketers --

 7 I'm going to use that term because I can't think of any other

 8 thing to call them -- people who go around giving  seminars,

 9 teaching people that this is legal and proper, wh y would you

10 speculate that either the Federal Reserve or the Treasury or

11 the OCC doesn't come out with some type of highly  visible

12 public statement that these particular people are  teaching

13 fraudulent information?

14 MR. ODULIO:  Objection to that, Your Honor.

15 THE COURT:  Overruled.

16 A. Okay.  This is actually, I think, a very good q uestion.

17 That is, has the Treasury been as proactive as it  should be,

18 the Fed the same way, in trying to offset the eff ects of the

19 disinformation campaign that's out there.  And I do think the

20 defense raises a good point in the sense of are t here seminars

21 and other educational things happening out there that might

22 mislead the public into thinking there was validi ty in these

23 instruments and, yes, these things exist.  You ca n find

24 countervailing testimony on the internet by searc hing, if you

25 Google a seminar for Treasury warrants or comptro ller
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 1 warrants, for example, you might find somebody sa ying, well,

 2 no, they don't work.

 3 But the real question is what does the Treasury d o?  What

 4 does the Federal Reserve do?  They issue circular  notices when

 5 a new type of instrument surfaces in the collecti on system.

 6 But unless you're a banker, I'm not sure how thor oughly you'll

 7 see that.  I think there are some classes of merc hants who are

 8 particularly tied closely to the banking system, like car

 9 dealers, for example, who would get and regularly  read these

10 circular notices on the Treasury's or Fed's websi te.  But most

11 people don't spend their days reading Treasury ch eck

12 collection notices.  So it is a fair question.

13 But if you Google the Fed's website, which I do d aily,

14 you -- you have to look pretty hard to find guida nce on what's

15 wrong with instruments in the check collection sy stem.  And I

16 haven't tried it on the Treasury's website lately , but I think

17 it's a little easier to find over at the Treasury , but

18 definitely not at the Fed.

19 (Defendants conferred.) 

20 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

21 BY DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  

22 Q. Of the instruments you saw come in and reviewed  or that

23 you're aware of by any means, were they all prose cuted?

24 MR. ODULIO:  Objection, Your Honor.

25 THE COURT:  Sustained.

Case 1:08-cr-00055-RLV-DCK   Document 186    Filed 12/07/10   Page 35 of 132



WALKER TODD - DIRECT

   574

 1 Q. As a constitutional scholar having studied the

 2 Constitution, would this activity constitute a fo rm of protest

 3 under the First Amendment?

 4 MR. ODULIO:  Objection to that, Your Honor.

 5 THE COURT:  Sustained.  

 6 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Okay.  This should be

 7 Government's Exhibit 164 so it should already be in evidence

 8 so everybody can see it, right?

 9 Q. Can you see that now, Mr. Todd?

10 A. It just came up.

11 Q. Okay.  This is one of the documents that has be en

12 presented into evidence.  You'll notice the verbi age up at the

13 upper right in bold.  Does that mean anything to you?

14 A. As an expert I would say no, it's inconsistent.   It's a

15 hallmark of these instruments, by the way, the or iginal ones

16 that I first saw 15 years ago.  I said the person  who drafted

17 them had some knowledge of what was happening reg arding

18 banking and money, but it sort of veers off into unforeseen

19 terrain.  So it's as though they were drafted by someone who

20 wasn't quite in his right mind as he was drafting  it, but had

21 a great deal of technical knowledge.

22 So I would say that's sort of -- the boldfaced th ing at

23 the top and the paragraph 1 statement of facts th at I'm being

24 shown here has language that's inconsistent with what you

25 would normally expect, okay.
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 1 I was an expert on banker's acceptances, for exam ple.

 2 Probably considered the leading expert on banker' s acceptances

 3 in the entire U.S. government when I was at the N ew York Fed.

 4 And that second sentence there really blows me aw ay.  Said,

 5 "Acceptance in the form of a banker's acceptance or national

 6 bank note."  They're not the same thing at all, a nd anyone who

 7 is familiar with banker's acceptances would know that.  But if

 8 you're a layman, could you define what is a banke r's

 9 acceptance?  So there are problems with the langu age that way.

10 Q. Okay.  So if -- here we find more recitations o f law --

11 A. Uh-huh.

12 Q. -- specific to setting up the definition of leg al tender,

13 correct?  Subtitle --

14 A. Yes, the definition from Title 31, key point be ing

15 Federal Reserve Notes are -- national bank notes are legal

16 tender.

17 Q. And I think as you stated as testimony, the one  sentence

18 there, "This official definition for legal tender  was first

19 established in HJR 192 in 1933."  That is a corre ct statement,

20 correct?

21 A. Yes, it was done by a joint resolution in 1933,  right.  

22 Q. And then at the end of the sentence, "Notes of national

23 banks, legal tender, both backed by the credit of  the nation,"

24 that's a correct statement?

25 A. Yes, and that is correct.  Separately provided in the
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 1 Federal Reserve Act that Federal Reserve Notes ar e full faith

 2 and credit obligations of the United States.

 3 Q. Then below that, the quote, "From HJR 192 that abrogated

 4 the gold clause," do you recognize that?

 5 A. Yes.

 6 Q. Okay.

 7 A. The gold clause -- well, basically, by June of '33, the

 8 federal government was denying its obligation to pay out gold

 9 even on previously issued bonds of the United Sta tes promising

10 payment in gold.  And the Supreme Court later uph eld the right

11 of the government to do that.

12 Q. Okay.  There was an executive order demanding t he people

13 turn in their gold.  Was that constitutional?

14 A. It was held to be legal.  Whether it was proper  is

15 another story.  But it was later sustained as a m atter of law.

16 I have personal objections to it and I view it as  improper,

17 but -- and I was glad when the private right to o wn gold was

18 restored in 1974.  But the -- the rulings of the Supreme Court

19 are consistent on this that the right of the exec utive to

20 suspend gold in the circumstances was correct.

21 Q. Due to emergency.

22 A. Due to emergency powers.

23 Q. The lower section deals, I believe you'll see, with

24 Title 12 and the number of repealed laws.

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. And the quote down from money and banking, "Tod ay

 2 commercial banks no longer issue currency."  I do n't know what

 3 the --

 4 A. Uh-huh.

 5 Q. Then it says commercial banks don't, correct?

 6 A. Yes.  Right, national bank notes were the last form of

 7 circulating currency that was issued by any comme rcial bank,

 8 in that case national banks, but that ended in 19 33.

 9 Q. Okay.  Thank you.  This is where we need your e xpert

10 input.  UCC4-105.

11 A. Yes.

12 Q. Says what?

13 A. "Bank means a person engaged in the business of  banking."

14 Q. Okay.  Seems reasonably easy to understand.  Ho w about

15 the next one.

16 A. Right.  "The term bank also includes any person  engaged

17 in the business of banking."

18 Q. And the next one.

19 A. "Bank means any person engaged in the business of

20 banking."

21 Q. So we've got some consistency here.  And then B lack's Law

22 Dictionary definition of banker.

23 A. Right.  It's anyone, including a private person , who is

24 engaged in the business of banking without being incorporated.

25 Some statutes or legal systems call these people private
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 1 bankers and the like.  And this is consistent wit h that older

 2 story I was telling you about in the 1950s when t he draftsmen

 3 were doing the New York version of the Uniform Co mmercial Code

 4 and they said who is a banker.  And for purposes of the law,

 5 they said we have to use the broad definition of banker,

 6 meaning anyone who does this business as opposed to particular

 7 banks or bankers licensed by the state or by the federal

 8 government.  Under the common law anyone could be  a banker,

 9 but state laws were later enacted restricting the  privilege of

10 banking to certain defined classes of individuals ,

11 partnerships, corporations.

12 The National Bank Act allowed individuals or part nerships

13 or associations to be national banks until 1933 w hen the

14 government provided an inducement under the old r econstruction

15 finance corporation to banks to go ahead and inco rporate

16 because that way you could sell preferred stock t o this

17 government rescue entity, the RFC.  If you were j ust an

18 individual, you couldn't sell preferred stock in yourself.

19 Q. Okay.

20 A. So that was -- that was the background of this whole

21 distinction between a banker as a person on one s ide and a

22 bank as some specifically licensed entity on the other side.

23 Q. Okay.  But the last sentence of that where it s ays,

24 "while a private banker is a person engaged in ba nking without

25 having any special privileges or authority from t he state."
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 1 A. Yes.

 2 Q. That's still a good definition, is it not?

 3 A. (No response.)

 4 Q. Black's Law Dictionary?

 5 A. Yes.  Yes, that's right.  It's the common -- al l Black's

 6 is doing here is restating the common law definit ion of a

 7 banker.

 8 Q. Okay.  And then the next sentence where it says  "Banking

 9 is partly."

10 A. "Banking is partly and optionally defined as a business

11 of issuing notes for circulation or negotiating b ills."  The

12 classical traditional definition of banking is is suing notes

13 intended to circulate as money payable on demand.

14 Q. Okay.  And then where it says banker's note, de fines

15 banker's note as.

16 A. It says, "A commercial instrument resembling a bank note

17 in every particular except it's given by a privat e banker or

18 an unincorporated banking institution."

19 Q. That's consistent with what we've seen so far, correct?

20 A. Yes.  Once again, that's just allowing private persons to

21 engage in this business of banking.

22 Q. Okay.  Let's go to the next page, then.  Have t o drag you

23 through this to...

24 All right.  Basically, the first big paragraph th ere

25 forms the conclusion of this document.  If you wo uld please
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 1 analyze that for us.  Starts with "therefore" rig ht at the

 2 top.

 3 A. "Therefore, as noted above, the legal definitio ns

 4 relating to legal tender" -- do you want me to an alyze it or

 5 read it?

 6 Q. Well, probably read it for the jury and then co mment on

 7 it, please.

 8 A. "The legal definitions relating to legal tender  have been

 9 written by Congress and maintained as such to be both

10 exclusive, where necessary, and inclusive, where appropriate,

11 to provide for the inclusion of the principals, s ureties,

12 prime creditors, and holders in equity over the U nited States,

13 who, since 1933, have collectively and nationally  constituted

14 a national bank or a national banking association ."

15 This is preliminary language that's basically say ing who

16 are the persons authorized to organize a national  bank, and

17 let's talk about their rights regarding the legal  tender

18 privilege.

19 And then it continues, "So a national bank with a  right

20 as stated in the instrument to issue as legal ten der notes on

21 the full faith and credit of the United States."  They're

22 cleaning up the language.  In '33 the statute was  changed to

23 substitute this modern phrase full faith and cred it where

24 previously it said obligations of the United Stat es and so on.

25 And it continues.  It says these -- under the old
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 1 statutory definition, a national bank's organizer  or principal

 2 was a surety for the obligations, currency and cr edit as a

 3 remedy for equity interest recovery over U.S. cor porate public

 4 debt due to them.

 5 This is all related to that older system where na tional

 6 banks were allowed to issue notes serving as curr ency, but in

 7 return they had to back those notes with purchase s of U.S.

 8 government obligations.  And those obligations ar e what's

 9 being talked about in this older statutory langua ge here in

10 the second half of the statute.

11 Q. Okay.  Do you see there where it says the Fourt eenth

12 Amendment?

13 A. In the bottom middle of the page, yes.  The Fou rteenth

14 Amendment provides "no person shall be deprived o f property

15 without due process of law."

16 Q. Correct.

17 A. Right.

18 Q. And then the next sentence after that.

19 A. It says, "The courts have long ruled to have on e's

20 property legally held as collateral or surety for  a debt even

21 when he still owns it and still has it is to depr ive him of it

22 since it is at risk and could be lost for the deb t at any

23 time."

24 Q. So this --

25 A. And --
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 1 Q. You've made the comment that the government has  pledged

 2 our future earnings which are our property, is it  not?  I

 3 mean, our -- we have the property --

 4 A. Yes, in the broad economic sense, your future e arnings

 5 stream would be deemed your property, yes.

 6 Q. Okay.  So we have had that pledged, and is this  not

 7 saying that that is a form of deprivation?  That we're not --

 8 they can't do it without due process of law under  the

 9 Fourteenth Amendment?

10 A. I think it's generally recognized in law that y ou cannot

11 state a claim on future earnings of a private ind ividual

12 without due process of law.  That he has to sign a contract or

13 something to that effect.

14 Q. Okay.

15 A. So, yes.

16 Q. So by this definition, the American people have  become

17 sureties for the national debt, correct?

18 A. A portion of their earnings may be taxed away.  That's --

19 that's the sense in which the people would stand as a surety

20 for the national debt.  It is that you know that taxes would

21 have to increase at some point to pay off or pay down the

22 debt.

23 Q. Okay.  So the little -- where it starts, quote,  Sureties

24 compelled.

25 A. Uh-huh.
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 1 THE COURT:  Well, I think you're going to have to

 2 make a comment to advise the court where you're g oing with

 3 this because otherwise you're just going over mis cellaneous

 4 phrases from a miscellaneous document.

 5 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  And, sir, that's the

 6 problem.

 7 THE COURT:  And you're not showing -- you're not

 8 showing how it might apply to this case.

 9 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  I'm trying to get at th e

10 point in the document where -- all this foundatio n is being

11 laid before the conclusion.

12 THE COURT:  Well, you better move it quickly, the n,

13 because otherwise I'm going to cut it off.

14 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Okay.

15 Q. The question was asked earlier, and I think we' ve come

16 around to it, are we sureties?  And you basically  said a

17 portion of our earnings is surety; is that correc t?

18 A. Future earnings.

19 Q. Future earnings would have been pledged as a su rety to

20 the national debt.

21 A. And my answer there is in the broad general sen se we are

22 sureties for the national debt.  As a legal matte r, there are

23 two categories of thinking about public debt trad itionally.

24 The prior tradition that was abandoned by the for mation of the

25 Constitution was no future Congress can be bound by an act of
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 1 the present Congress.  And so it was decided base d on 17th

 2 century English practice that evolved then that w e would

 3 establish that regarding public debt, a commitmen t can be made

 4 by a present Congress or parliament that binds a future

 5 Congress or parliament and that commitment would be, in this

 6 case, backed by a taxing power.  The taxes would stand as

 7 sureties.  But if you talked to insurance lawyers  or lawyers

 8 experienced in guarantys, I think they would say what they --

 9 what is meant by surety here is the general sense  and not any

10 technical legal term as binding you, saying aha, now you are a

11 legal surety for this public debt over here.  I t hink that

12 would be a stretch.  It would be beyond the settl ed

13 understanding of the term.

14 I understand how you could conclude that a person  is a

15 surety for the public debt, but I think it's a

16 misinterpretation.

17 Q. Okay.

18 (Defendants conferred.) 

19 BY DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER: 

20 Q. Would it be reasonable on the part of a layman -- you're

21 the expert.  The people in general are not -- to conclude they

22 are a surety for the national debt and would have  a right of

23 redress?

24 A. On the first part, would -- reading this langua ge, would

25 you be able to conclude that you're a surety for a debt -- for
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 1 the public debt?  Yes, I can see how laymen would  read that

 2 and draw that conclusion.

 3 And if you're saying, well, what is the remedy th ere?

 4 The issue is -- again, I think it was Lucas versus South

 5 Carolina Coastal Commission in 1988, a Supreme Court decision,

 6 where basically the ruling is if you don't like w hat's being

 7 done in your name, your only remedy is to go to t he ballot box

 8 and throw the rascals out.

 9 The problem is if you see a provision of law bein g

10 violated or law -- or the Constitution, do you ha ve as a

11 citizen a private remedy against the United State s for that

12 wrong?  And I believe it is settled law that you do not have a

13 private remedy unless you can state a claim under  the Federal

14 Tort Claims Act or something to that effect.

15 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  No more questions.  Tha nk

16 you.

17 THE COURT:  Cross examination.

18 MR. ODULIO:  Yes, sir.

19 CROSS EXAMINATION 

20 BY MR. ODULIO:  

21 Q. Good afternoon, Dr. Todd.

22 A. Good afternoon.

23 Q. You were just asked a series of questions about

24 Government's Exhibit 164.  Do you recall that?

25 A. Yes.
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 1 Q. And you were shown various passages in isolatio n of

 2 purported legal authority.

 3 A. Yes.

 4 Q. Take a look at paragraph 1 there.

 5 A. Uh-huh.

 6 Q. And I'll ask you whether or not anything that y ou were

 7 presented would support the assertion being made there in

 8 paragraph 1 concerning this purported tender offe r or banker's

 9 acceptance or the use of a national bank note to pay...

10 A. Well, that -- that whole second sentence is som ething

11 that to an expert would have been a red flag warn ing that this

12 is not a regular instrument in form.  You would w ant to ask

13 further questions about who drafted it and why, t hings of that

14 sort.

15 In the first sentence, you would have to know som e

16 particulars that are not self-evident on the inst rument, like

17 what are these account numbers, for example.  But  other than

18 that, the first instrument is not necessarily a r ed flag.  It

19 would be a -- particular account number informati on would be a

20 red flag, but the second sentence is the red flag  to the

21 expert.

22 Q. How about the use of a national bank note?  Any thing that

23 you read and was presented in direct examination would support

24 the use of a national bank note --

25 A. No --
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 1 Q. -- to pay --

 2 A. Go ahead, I'm sorry.

 3 Q. To pay a Countrywide home loan on January 15th of 2004?

 4 A. No, the use of national bank notes for this pur pose would

 5 have ended in 1933.

 6 MR. ODULIO:  Your Honor, may I approach the witne ss?

 7 THE COURT:  Yes.

 8 Q. Show you, sir, what's in evidence there as Gove rnment's

 9 Exhibit 110.

10 A. Yes.

11 Q. It's also on your monitor.  That's styled a Bil l of

12 Exchange, is it not?

13 A. Yes, in the upper left it says Bill of Exchange .

14 Q. And this instrument -- first of all, are you fa miliar

15 with it?

16 A. I saw this prior to testimony today, yes.

17 Q. And my question to you, sir, is this instrument  is

18 purporting to draw money from a Treasury direct a ccount, is it

19 not?

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. And if I were to tell you that the direct Treas ury

22 account listed there is not valid, what would you r opinion be

23 on the legitimacy of this instrument, Government' s 110?

24 A. Well, if the account number is not a valid numb er, there

25 are still other red flag warnings in this top hal f of the
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 1 instrument.  The idea of calling John Snow the tr ustee at the

 2 Department of the Treasury would have been a red flag right

 3 there.  John Snow was the secretary of the Treasu ry at the

 4 time.  And it says, "Prepaid exchange item.  Proc ess through

 5 the TT&L account by FedWire."

 6 TT&L is a banker's jargon term for Treasury tax a nd loan

 7 accounts and these are not things that laymen wou ld ordinarily

 8 be involved in.  It's a way for private businessm en to make

 9 federal tax payments.  You can go down to a Feder al Reserve

10 member bank and make a payment of taxes for the c redit to the

11 Treasury's account.  Alternatively, the Treasury will deposit

12 money back in the banking system using these acco unts,

13 Treasury tax and loan or TT&L accounts.  But this  is something

14 that happens only between bankers on the one hand  and the

15 Treasury on the other hand.  So that for a privat e person to

16 say, oh, go debit the TT&L account, this would be  deemed a

17 nonsense instruction.

18 Q. All right.  So do you have an opinion on whethe r or not

19 this is fictitious?  I take it your view is it is .

20 A. Would I have taken this if I were at the Fed do  you mean?

21 Q. Correct.  Yes, sir.

22 A. Yes.  No, I would not.  I would have kicked thi s

23 instrument out.

24 Q. And in fact, you're familiar with these kinds o f

25 instruments, are you, in your work with the Fed; isn't that
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 1 right, sir?

 2 A. Yes.

 3 Q. And you testified earlier that these so-called bills of

 4 exchange began to circulate in the upper midwest.

 5 A. In the high plains states originally.  The Rock y Mountain

 6 west starting in the early 1990s to mid '90s.  Th e claims

 7 started piling up at Federal Reserve Banks.  That 's when they

 8 first came to the notice of the Fed and the Treas ury that

 9 there might have been more than just isolated inc idents, but

10 at the time we wondered if there was some kind of  concerted

11 attempt to tie up the payment system.

12 Q. And the Montana Freemen, for example, would be a subset

13 of that?

14 A. That's right.  Ultimately, we think this was tr aced back

15 to the activities of the Montana Freemen who seem  to have been

16 ground zero in the origination and circulation of  these types

17 of instruments.

18 Q. And again, your testimony is you're familiar wi th them

19 and the related scheme.  Is there an underlying a ntigovernment

20 or antilawyer sentiment related to these kinds of  schemes?

21 A. Certainly for the Montana Freemen there was bot h of the

22 elements you described, both antifederal governme nt and

23 antilawyer.  The Montana Freemen refused on princ iple to

24 cooperate with their defense attorneys or with th eir expert

25 witness.
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 1 Q. All right.  I'm going to ask you, you're famili ar with a

 2 Treasury direct account or a direct Treasury acco unt as styled

 3 here, sir?

 4 A. Yes.

 5 Q. Isn't it true that you cannot use a Treasury di rect

 6 account to write checks to third parties, for ins tance, to pay

 7 off the clerk of the superior court or make a mor tgage payment

 8 or a car payment?

 9 A. Yes, this is correct.  What you're describing w ould

10 amount to using the Treasury direct account as li ke a checking

11 account at a bank, but it is not intended for tha t.  It's

12 usually just the device through which an individu al citizen

13 may buy and sell securities from the Treasury.  I f you want to

14 buy a Treasury bill, for example, it would be cre dited into

15 your Treasury direct account.  When you sell the security or

16 if it matures and you fail to roll it over, there  would be

17 cash in the account.

18 Q. Okay.  And Dr. Todd, these bills of exchange re ally

19 relate to -- and you've testified about the Redem ption.  It

20 relates to an assertion that HJR 192 somehow allo wed

21 individuals to trade their birth certificates in for millions

22 or hundreds of millions of dollars; is that right ?

23 A. Yes, a variation of the theme.  And economists would say

24 it's only worth 625,000, but that's right.

25 Q. Okay.  And in fact, in the line of questioning you were
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 1 asked on direct examination about sureties, does that relate

 2 to this notion that you just discussed about rede eming your

 3 birth certificate?

 4 A. Yes.  I believe that the surety concept as desc ribed

 5 there is related to the, what we were calling Red emption

 6 theory and that spinoff from Canadian social cred it theory.

 7 Q. And does HJR 192 have anything to do or give in dividuals

 8 the ability to use their birth certificate to get  an account

 9 for hundreds of millions of dollars?

10 A. No, not to my knowledge, no.

11 Q. And you've seen language that used HJR 192 and the UCC in

12 conjunction to purportedly open these accounts; i s that right?

13 A. Yes, I have seen that in other cases, yes.

14 Q. Okay.  HJR 192 was enacted in 1933; is that rig ht?

15 A. Yes.

16 Q. And I think you testified on direct that the UC C wasn't

17 widely accepted or codified until the 1950s; is t hat right?

18 A. Yes.  In fact, the graduation speaker at my law  school

19 graduation was the original draftswoman of the UC C.  Her name

20 was Soia Mentschikoff, and she started working on  the project

21 in 1949.

22 Q. Okay.  So Ms. Mentschikoff wouldn't have -- cer tainly

23 wouldn't have contemplated the use of the Uniform  Commercial

24 Code to trade your birth certificate in to open a  direct

25 Treasury account as reflected in 110.
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 1 A. Right.  That would have been deemed nonsense.

 2 Q. All right.  Let's take a look at 162, sir, whic h is in

 3 evidence.  I'm going to direct your attention, I think, to the

 4 back of the page.

 5 A. The back, right.

 6 Q. Again, do you have a view based on your experie nce

 7 concerning the legitimacy of this purported payme nt?

 8 A. Yes.  This is a payoff demand.  Right.  The lan guage

 9 is -- on this -- the top half of this instrument is basically

10 just a hodgepodge of legal phrases that seem to h ave been

11 slapped together disjointedly.  So "this note is legal tender

12 for all debts public and private," for example, t hat's the

13 language that appears on currency notes, dollar b ills.

14 The phrase "accepted for value" and "returned for  value,"

15 "discharge and closure of the accounting," to an expert this

16 would have no meaning.  We would say we don't kno w what this

17 means.

18 "Issued under the authority of U.S. Code as a leg al

19 tender offer national bank note," well, again, th ere's the

20 reference to the out-noted national bank notes wh ich have not

21 been around since '33.

22 And the conjunction -- or the reference to HJR 19 2, I

23 believe HJR 192, that's House Joint Resolution 19 2 which

24 declared Federal Reserve Notes legal tender.  Tha t may have

25 been the resolution that suspended the circulatio n of national
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 1 bank notes.  So the two could be related that way .  But it has

 2 nothing to do with a current commercial transacti on.

 3 Q. Any kind of expertise needed, sir, to determine  that this

 4 is not a valid instrument when the entity you sen t it to

 5 rejects it?

 6 A. Would you need expertise to reject this, is tha t

 7 essentially what you're asking?

 8 Q. I'll withdraw the question.

 9 A. Okay.

10 Q. Let's take a look at Government's 32.  Do you s ee that,

11 sir?

12 A. Yes.

13 Q. If -- and this just looks like a check drawn on  a Bank of

14 America account payable to Countrywide for 323,91 5 and some

15 dollars.  Do you see that?

16 A. Yes.

17 Q. If this check was drawn on either a closed acco unt or an

18 account that did not have funds in it, what would  happen to

19 this check?

20 A. Do you mean if it came into the Federal Reserve ?

21 Q. Yes, sir.

22 A. Yes.  It would be rejected for a variety of rea sons.

23 First, it has a handwritten certified number in t he upper

24 left.  That would be deemed highly irregular.  An d the real

25 question is who has authority to certify a check.   Only a
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 1 banker does.  And there are various statutes that  deal

 2 particularly with the effect of certifying a chec k.

 3 It says "FedWire Only" stamped on the check.  So a banker

 4 would be puzzled by this because you'd say it's a  check but

 5 why am I being told to run this through FedWire?

 6 Then you have the legend that's stamped on the lo wer

 7 right:  "Attention U.S. Treasury direct prepaid i tem," et

 8 cetera, "private pass through account."  Again, t o my

 9 knowledge, no such accounts exist.  Or if they do , they're not

10 available for payments by third -- payments to th ird parties.

11 Let's see.  "Electronic funds transfer only.  Do not send

12 to bank printed on check."  That would be, again,  a most

13 irregular instruction because when you see a chec k, the only

14 thing you're supposed to do is present it back to  the bank on

15 which it was drawn and here is language telling u s do not

16 present to that bank.  So it's inconsistent with the

17 fundamental nature of the instrument.

18 Q. Okay.  Any of the stamps on here magically make  -- would

19 magically make this check work if there weren't a ny money in

20 this related account or if it was closed?

21 A. No.  I think the initial instinct of a banker s eeing this

22 check would be to try to present it on to that ac count and he

23 would learn that the account has been closed and so he would

24 then begin the process of reversing any value pai d for the

25 check back up the chain of collection.  He would just reverse
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 1 the process of collection that it had come into.

 2 Q. You were also asked questions on direct examina tion about

 3 fractional banking.  Do you recall that?

 4 A. Yes.

 5 Q. Any of your answers relating to fractional bank ing, would

 6 that support this Redemption scheme?

 7 A. No.  No.  Fractional reserve banking is entirel y related

 8 to the question of what percentage of reserves, i f any, are

 9 required to be held against currently demand depo sits in the

10 banking system.

11 Q. This --

12 A. And the rate of expansion of money that's relat ed to it.

13 But that has nothing to do with the collection of  instruments.

14 Q. Does fractional banking have anything to do or -- have

15 anything to do with negating someone's promise to  pay a

16 promissory note signed in conjunction with a mort gage?

17 A. No, I would say it does not.

18 Q. Has no effect at all on that person's obligatio n to pay

19 back the mortgagor.

20 A. No.  You might encounter a particular case wher e the note

21 called for payment in a certain form, but by and large, the --

22 as long as all that is being exchanged is bank cr edit, then

23 one's obligation is to pay back to the bank the v alue of the

24 credit advanced.

25 Q. Let's take a look at Government's 137.  Do you have that
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 1 in front of you, sir?

 2 A. I do.  Do I have that one or only on the screen ?  Wait,

 3 yes, I do.  I do.  I see it.  Okay.

 4 Q. And again, you looked through this document pri or to your

 5 testimony today; is that right?

 6 A. Yes.

 7 Q. And this is styled Notice of International Comm ercial

 8 Claim Administrative Remedy.

 9 A. Yes.

10 Q. And it's purportedly being made by Edward Willi am Wahler

11 and Kathy Ray Wahler to Kelly King, d/b/a Preside nt, BB&T

12 Bank.

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. Is this a valid mechanism to resolve a dispute you might

15 have with a bank?

16 A. Probably not in the sense that it looks like a document

17 that would have a mix of legal and accounting con cepts

18 embedded within it, but I don't think it has any monetary

19 value attached to it.  It appears to be drawn und er the

20 reference to International Commercial Claim.  The re's a whole

21 line of questionable financial instruments that s upposedly are

22 drawn under International Chamber of Commerce, IC C,

23 documentation.  And this may have been somehow in tended to

24 conform to understanding -- it's about the Intern ational

25 Chamber of Commerce, but to my knowledge there is  no such
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 1 thing as an International Commercial Claim Admini strative

 2 Remedy.

 3 Q. And would a bank's failure to respond to a docu ment like

 4 this result in a liability to the bank?

 5 A. Would a bank receiving this therefore automatic ally have

 6 a liability based on the fact of receipt?  And th e answer is

 7 no.

 8 Q. You were also asked questions, sir, about wheth er or not

 9 the Fed or the Treasury has been proactive concer ning

10 informing the public about these scams and scheme s.

11 A. About these -- uh-huh.

12 Q. Do you recall that?

13 A. Yes.

14 Q. Show you what's on your monitor as Government's  Exhibit

15 249, which has been admitted into evidence.  Do y ou see that?

16 A. Not yet.

17 Q. Bear with us here.

18 A. Okay.  Yes.  This is 249.  And it's an alert fr om the

19 Comptroller of the Currency regarding fraudulent debt

20 elimination schemes, yes.

21 Q. I'm going to turn your attention --

22 A. Right.  And it's addressed by the Comptroller o f the

23 Currency who's the administrator for national ban ks to

24 national banks, state banks, et cetera, and bank examiners and

25 the like.
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 1 Q. And certainly, sir, there have been other alert s issued

 2 like this by the OCC and related authorities espe cially after

 3 this Freemen --

 4 A. Yes.

 5 Q. -- episode that you just testified about.

 6 A. Yes.

 7 Q. Okay.  And again, in pretty plain English it sa ys that

 8 these kind of Redemption schemes are fraudulent; is that

 9 right?

10 A. Yes.

11 Q. And in fact, it's styled Fictitious Debt Elimin ation

12 Schemes in the description there.

13 A. That's correct.

14 Q. Dr. Todd, you were contacted only recently by t he

15 defendants for your testimony in this matter; is that correct?

16 A. Yes.  The first inquiry was Friday, I believe.

17 Q. And sir, you're appearing here and collecting a  witness

18 fee in connection with or -- or a fee in connecti on with

19 your -- the testimony, the expert testimony you'r e providing

20 today; is that right?

21 A. Yes.

22 Q. And who is paying the fee?  Or let me rephrase that.

23 THE COURT:  Sustained.

24 Q. Okay.  What is your fee?

25 A. I believe it is $2,500 plus my expenses of trav el.
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 1 Q. Okay.  Would you accept your payment in the for m of

 2 Government's Exhibit 110 if it was tendered to yo u?

 3 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 4 MR. ODULIO:  Just a moment, Your Honor.

 5 THE COURT:  Yes, sir.

 6 (Government counsel conferred.)

 7 MR. ODULIO:  Thank you, Your Honor.

 8 THE COURT:  Any redirect within the scope of cros s?

 9 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Yes.  We're trying to f ind

10 a document, if you'll just...

11 (Defendants conferred.)

12 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Your Honor, is it possi ble

13 to break for lunch so we can try and find some do cuments and

14 get our act together, if you don't mind?

15 THE COURT:  All right.  But any redirect has to b e

16 within the scope of cross examination.

17 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Okay.  Thank you.

18 THE COURT:  We'll take our lunch break, members o f

19 the jury.  Please remember the usual instructions .  Keep an

20 open mind about the case.  Don't discuss it.  Tha nk you.

21 JUROR:  What time are we supposed to be back?

22 THE COURT:  It would be a good idea if we all kno w

23 that.  That would be -- let's try 2 o'clock.

24 (Lunch recess at 12:45 p.m.)

25 TUESDAY AFTERNOON, NOVEMBER 17, 2009 
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 1 THE COURT:  May we have the jury, please

 2 (Jury entered the courtroom.)

 3 THE COURT:  All right.  The jury is with us.

 4 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Would the government pu t

 5 Exhibit 249 back up, please.

 6 MR. ODULIO:  What page?

 7 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  It's the OCC alert, rig ht?

 8 I guess the top of it to start with.

 9 WALKER F. TODD  

10 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

11 BY DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER: 

12 Q. Mr. Todd, I think we -- the "To" section of thi s

13 document, who did that indicate this document was  addressed

14 to, please?

15 A. This document of the OCC alert from the Comptro ller of

16 the Currency is addressed to the chief executive officers of

17 national banks, state banking authorities, the Fe deral Reserve

18 system, the FDIC, the state bank supervisors, the  deputy

19 comptrollers, that's the people that work for him , the

20 assistant deputy comptrollers, district counsel, and all

21 examining personnel.  That, again, would be all p eople

22 involved in the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency.

23 Q. Okay.  Would all of them also be considered fai rly

24 sophisticated in the banking system?

25 A. They either are or should be, yes, to hold the positions
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 1 that they do.

 2 Q. And still, they needed to see a document like t his to be

 3 noticed of this situation; is that correct?

 4 A. Well, it was addressed to them, let's put it th at way,

 5 yes.

 6 Q. Okay.  Based on either OCC alerts or any knowle dge you

 7 have, has this activity subsided?

 8 A. The particular activity that is described there  was

 9 essentially bonds for discharge of debt, bills of  exchange,

10 due bills, Redemption certificates, and the like,  and the date

11 on this was from '03, December of '03, and I beli eve that the

12 activity peaked maybe a year or two after that an d then it has

13 subsided since then.  But yes, it has subsided by  now.

14 Q. So would you say there's a lag, then, for infor mation

15 like this before it possibly gets out to the publ ic?

16 A. That has been my experience, yes.

17 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Okay.

18 (Defendants conferred.)

19 REDIRECT EXAMINATION 

20 BY DEFENDANT HUGHES:  

21 Q. Would a layman reading this OCC alert necessari ly know

22 exactly what was meant by fictitious instruments here?

23 Because one of the things it talks about is bill of exchange

24 and obviously there are plenty of legal bills of exchange.

25 A. Uh-huh.
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 1 Q. So if a layman had this, how would he know what  kind of

 2 bill of exchange this alert had to do with?

 3 A. They would have to read the rest of the documen t.  It may

 4 be spelled out which entities are involved with t he bills of

 5 exchange that are suspect.  But I think your poin t is a valid

 6 one, that if you say watch out for due bills and bills of

 7 exchange, those are or may be valid instruments e lsewhere in

 8 commerce.  So it's only a particular subset that they are to

 9 watch out for, and then it would be a question of  is adequate

10 notice available in this document here to tell pe ople which

11 ones to watch out for.

12 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Thank you.

13 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  I have no further

14 questions.

15 MR. ODULIO:  Your Honor, no further questions fro m

16 the government.

17 THE COURT:  All right.  You may step down.

18 THE WITNESS:  All right.  Thank you.

19 (Witness stepped down.)

20 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Do we need to say that he's

21 excused at this point?

22 THE COURT:  If there's no objection, he'll be

23 excused.  Thank you.

24 THE WITNESS:  Thank you, Your Honor.

25 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  I didn't know if we nee ded
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 1 to do that or not.

 2 THE COURT:  Just as well, thank you.  Yes, we did

 3 so.

 4 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Thank you.

 5 We're having a little discussion.  Give us one

 6 moment.

 7 THE COURT:  Yes, sir.

 8 The jury may be at ease.  That means you may stan d

 9 and stretch, chat with one another, but not talk about the

10 case.

11 (Defendants conferred.)

12 DEFENDANT KATHY WAHLER:  Your Honor, I am ready t o

13 take the stand to testify --

14 THE COURT:  All right.

15 DEFENDANT KATHY WAHLER:  -- on behalf of myself.

16 THE COURT:  If you'll step forward.

17 KATHY WAHLER, 

18 being first duly sworn, was examined and testifie d as follows: 

19 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

20 THE WITNESS:  My name is Kathy Wahler.  I am the

21 wife of Edward Wahler.  Defendant in this case.  

22 I am taking the stand to tell my story.  You guys

23 have heard all of everything here.  All about ins truments.

24 All about seminars, teachings, all of that.  As I  told you in

25 the beginning that you would find that I am a hou sewife,
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 1 stay-at-home mom.  Home schooled my children.  Di dn't attend

 2 seminars.  Didn't get into any of this.  To me it 's all

 3 gobbledegook.  Haven't we all at one point said - - your

 4 husband said sign this, you sign it.  Or he said take this to

 5 the post office, you'd take it to the post office .

 6 I was born in Asheville, North Carolina.  Raised

 7 there all my life.  Raised in a traditional home where my

 8 husband -- my father was the head of the househol d.  My mother

 9 took care of the household.  And raised in church .  And my

10 belief system is is that the husband is the head of the

11 household as Christ is head of the church and you  defer to

12 that.  I know a lot of you are saying in this day  and time how

13 can you be that way.  It's plain and simple, it's  in the

14 Bible.  And if it's in his word, it's his word.  The Bible is

15 the same today, tomorrow, yesterday.  It doesn't matter.  It

16 is the same.  So that's the way I have taken it.

17 I have two children.  We have two children.  We h ave

18 a fourteen-year-old boy and a nine-year-old girl.   And have

19 spent their lives with them, basically.  As I sai d, we home

20 school.  Very traditional family spending lots of  time with

21 our children, not spent running here and there.

22 Hang on a second, I'm trying to stay in order her e.

23 Ed and I have been married for 25 years.  And

24 when -- when you saw what first happened with the  BB&T check,

25 and that was a Nigerian scheme.  If you -- I know  now you're
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 1 saying, well, everybody knows about Nigerian sche mes.  Well,

 2 you have to think back.  This was in 2002.  Did w e know about

 3 Nigerian schemes back then?  And he legitimately was trying to

 4 do business.  So there was no cause for -- you kn ow, the shock

 5 four months later when the bank came back and the  Secret

 6 Service showed up and they did all their question ing -- which

 7 again, I didn't sit in on the questioning.  I was  with the

 8 children and they questioned my husband.

 9 So I can't -- I have not questioned anyone about the

10 documents as you may have noticed.  I don't under stand the

11 documents.  Gobbledegook.  And I just don't under stand it.

12 And at this point, in the last 16 months, one of the

13 conditions of my release was is that I not have a ny contact

14 with my husband.  No contact with my husband what soever until

15 two weeks ago I actually got to start talking to him in court.

16 And we've been married for 25 years.

17 Excuse me.

18 (Witness began to cry.)

19 THE COURT:  You may take time as you see fit.

20 THE WITNESS:  So you see, I got shoved into the

21 point of being a single mother.  I did not handle  the

22 financial things in the household.  I let him do that.  I

23 also -- and that's like being widowed when you ca n't even talk

24 to your husband.  It's like he no longer exists.  And I had to

25 pack up, sell or give away everything that we had .  Didn't
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 1 have much left, but what we had, our personal ite ms.  I know

 2 that you heard that Ed is an electrical engineer,  developing

 3 products.  I had to pack his lab up.  And just pa ck it up with

 4 the hope that it would sometime be unpacked.

 5 The children and I live with my parents.  And I d o

 6 have a job.  And...

 7 Ed and I moved back to Asheville.  When we got

 8 married, we moved -- we were in Charlotte because  that's where

 9 he worked.  And we moved back to Asheville to hav e our

10 children.  To live in a slower pace, a good life.   I had been

11 raised there and that seemed a good place to star t a -- you

12 know, to start our family there.  And it was alwa ys that I

13 would stay home and be with the children.  And so  that's --

14 that's what we have done.

15 It's just very hard to think of the separation of

16 the last 16 months and what the future may hold.  But I did

17 not go to seminars.  I did not research.  It was just not

18 something to do.  And I relied on the word.  And my husband

19 had never done anything illegal.  I had no cause to even think

20 that it would be.  I mean, people were giving sem inars.  Okay.

21 If they're giving seminars and they're charging m oney for it,

22 then I'm naive enough to think, okay, then it mus t be okay or

23 why would they be doing this?

24 I've heard more and probably learned more in the

25 last 16 months about these -- these things than I 've known
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 1 over the last -- past few years since 2000.  Eigh t years.

 2 The subjects that I do know about are my family, my

 3 belief system, and my spirituality.  And hopefull y, you will

 4 have gained from the questions that I have asked the kind of

 5 person I am inside.

 6 I know that the prosecution will cross examine me

 7 and they will have questions and they're going to  say, well,

 8 you said this, you said that.  I'd like to be put  on the

 9 record as saying when I was picked up, I was in s hock.  I was

10 chained to a wall for six hours.  Okay.  I got on e bathroom

11 break, thank you very much.  But I hadn't eaten b efore they

12 picked us up so therefore it had been about 20 to  24 hours

13 without eating.  And I've read over the statement  that I --

14 that was made and I'm, like, okay.  I guess that' s right.  But

15 we all know what duress and stress can do to you in trying to

16 remember things.  So I ask that you look at those  things and

17 go with your heart on those things.

18 I tried to make notes and tried to write all this

19 out and I couldn't succinctly come up with a stor y line, so I

20 kind of skipped around to tell you who I am, what  I am, what

21 my beliefs are and I think it stayed the same thr oughout.

22 Because it's too hard to try and tell lies becaus e if you try

23 and tell lies, then you just tell lies on top of lies and then

24 you forget what you told.  So I tell the truth an d that seems

25 to just go from there.
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 1 I ask you to remember that the Secret Service did

 2 not find any criminal activity with the fraudulen t -- with

 3 that check on the Nigerians.  And that we took al l the

 4 appropriate actions.  And you'll see here today w e do have

 5 standby counsel, but we don't have an attorney an d you may be

 6 saying, well, why don't you have an attorney?  We ll, it's very

 7 hard to trust once you've trusted an attorney and  they made no

 8 effort to do their job.  And I've had a real hard  time

 9 trusting in anyone because I trusted the word tha t, okay, you

10 know, sign here, sign here, sign here -- and not that I'm

11 turning against my husband, but when you can't ev en talk to

12 the one you've talked to for 25 years to say, wel l, what's

13 your opinion.  So you don't have -- have an opini on there.  So

14 what I have done is just prayed about it to see w here we came

15 from.  And I just ask that you look at all those things.

16 I'm looking real quick here just to make sure I

17 didn't miss anything.

18 And to add that on each of those documents, I did

19 notice on there it says prohibited -- void where prohibited by

20 law.  And I relied on that.  I said, okay, well, this looks --

21 you know, hey, void where prohibited by law.  Don 't companies

22 do that to us all the time to cover themselves?  Oh, it's on

23 there; they're covered.  Well, not all the time.  And it

24 doesn't mean, I guess, what you think it means.  You have to

25 read more words into it.
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 1 So that's all I have, Your Honor.

 2 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  Any questions ?

 3 MS. ROSE:  Yes, sir.

 4 CROSS EXAMINATION 

 5 BY MS. ROSE:  

 6 Q. Have you ever worked outside the home?

 7 A. Yes, ma'am.

 8 Q. In what capacity?

 9 A. I've been a substitute home school teacher.  I' ve worked

10 at the Billy Graham Training Center, The Cove, as  a

11 server/hostess.  I worked at Cracker Barrel as a retail

12 cashier.  I've been a sales rep.  And when I was back out --

13 right out of high school and first year of colleg e, I worked

14 at the bank as a teller.

15 Q. You also worked for King Auto Auctions?

16 A. Oh, yeah, the auto auction.  I filed titles and  pulled

17 them back out when they sold.

18 Q. And did -- what other duties did you have there  other

19 than filing of titles?

20 A. I took the -- when you come in and you register  your car,

21 you pay a $5 fee, and sometimes I took that.

22 Q. And how long did you work in that capacity with  the auto

23 auction?

24 A. Maybe a year.  I'm not sure.

25 Q. You mentioned the -- what you called the Nigeri an scheme.
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 1 What do you understand that to be or what was you r

 2 understanding at the time that it occurred?

 3 A. Ed was trying to get -- the company that he sta rted and

 4 owned had -- did lottery terminals and he did the  California

 5 lottery terminals.  He did some other terminals - - other

 6 lotteries in other countries.  I think Austria wa s one of

 7 those.  I never worked for the company, so I didn 't -- I

 8 didn't get involved.  At this point in time, I wa s -- had --

 9 we were having our children and I didn't really g et involved

10 with it.  But he had been trying to get other lot tery

11 contracts outside the U.S.

12 Q. And there was a time, then, prior to that, mayb e even

13 after, when he was working as an engineer.

14 A. Yes.  Because he was designing the lottery term inals.

15 They were his designs.

16 Q. And was quite successful at that; isn't that fa ir to say?

17 A. Uh-huh.

18 Q. You indicated that you had not been able to dis cuss any

19 of this with your husband in over 16 months; is t hat correct?

20 A. Correct.

21 Q. When did that begin?

22 A. That was one of the qualifications of my releas e last

23 June.

24 Q. If I may, I'm going to approach and show you a couple of

25 documents and ask you if you're able to identify them.  First,
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 1 Government's Exhibit 253.

 2 A. Do me a favor, would you grab my glasses over t here.

 3 Q. Absolutely.  Here you go.

 4 A. Thanks.

 5 Q. Uh-huh.

 6 A. Okay.  It's a lot of gobbledegook.

 7 Q. Is it a document -- if you'll just go to the la st page.  

 8 The first page is entitled what?

 9 A. Affidavit of Rejection for Code Enforcement Age nt Default

10 Criminal Complaint.

11 Q. And it's filed with whom?

12 A. With Buncombe County.

13 Q. And the date of that filing?

14 A. 5/21/03.

15 Q. And that document, does it have your name anywh ere on it?

16 A. Uh-huh.

17 Q. What does it say?  It's handwritten, isn't it?

18 A. Uh-huh.

19 Q. What does it say?

20 A. Kathy Wahler, 1120 Cane Creek Road, Fletcher, N orth

21 Carolina.  Not my handwriting.

22 Q. And the last page?

23 A. What about all these pages in between?

24 Q. Well, I just wanted to ask if that was your sig nature?

25 A. Could be.  Okay.
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 1 Q. And prior to the part where you say that could be your

 2 signature, what does it say right above it?

 3 A. Executed without the, capital -- all caps, Unit ed States.

 4 I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws  of the

 5 United States, which is in small, of America that  the

 6 foregoing is true and correct.

 7 Q. So that was signed under penalty of perjury as being

 8 true.

 9 A. Does that mean all of this and this?

10 Q. The foregoing, meaning page 1 until your signat ure.

11 A. Okay.

12 Q. And then in addition, below your signature, if you take a

13 look at the back page, is there also a notary the re?

14 A. Uh-huh.

15 Q. And who notarized this document?

16 A. Brenda Jones.

17 Q. And you know Brenda Jones, obviously.  You work ed

18 together.

19 A. We did.

20 Q. And did she notarize that you personally appear ed before

21 her and signed that document?

22 A. Uh-huh.

23 Q. All right.  I'm going to show you what has been  marked as

24 Government's Exhibit 251.  Do you recognize Exhib it 251?

25 MR. BURGESS:  Your Honor, I'm standby counsel and  I
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 1 would like to see if we could have the lawyer be at the table

 2 rather than in front of the witness like that.

 3 THE COURT:  Well, overruled.

 4 THE WITNESS:  What was your question?

 5 Q. Do you recognize Exhibit 251?

 6 A. I have no clue.

 7 Q. Is that your signature that appears there on th e front of

 8 the document?

 9 A. Looks like it is.

10 Q. And if you'd turn to the last page, please, ma' am.  The

11 signature page, if you would.  That would be page  6 of 8.

12 A. Uh-huh.

13 Q. Is that signed?

14 A. Uh-huh.

15 Q. What else appears on that page?  Is there also a notary?

16 A. No, not on this page.

17 Q. Or witness?

18 A. Looks like he's a witness.

19 Q. And what is the title on this particular docume nt,

20 Government's Exhibit 251?

21 A. Declaration of Intention of Citizenship.

22 Q. And was that also a document that was filed wit h the

23 register of deeds or a clerk's office?

24 A. It looks like it was.

25 Q. And the date?
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 1 A. Needless to say, I have never gone in and filed  anything

 2 in Haywood County.

 3 Q. Does your signature appear on there as witnesse d by

 4 Mr. Hannigan?

 5 A. Yes.

 6 Q. All right.  Thank you.

 7 And what -- the Declaration of Intention of Citiz enship,

 8 does that show a filing date of 2007?

 9 A. Yep.

10 Q. Next is Government's Exhibit 211, and that's do cument 74.

11 It's previously been admitted.  Are you able to s ee this

12 document --

13 A. No.

14 Q. -- Ms. Wahler?

15 A. No, ma'am.

16 Q. Are you now able to see the document?

17 A. Yes.

18 Q. If you would, take a moment.  Do you recognize this

19 particular document?

20 A. Could I see the rest of it to make sure it's wh at I think

21 it is.

22 Q. Absolutely.  And if it may help you, I will tur n to page

23 7, which would be page 4 of 8.  Are you able to s ee that?

24 A. Yes.

25 Q. Is that your signature?
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 1 A. Uh-huh.

 2 Q. And then on page 9 -- excuse me, 5 of 8, a Cert ificate of

 3 Service?  Did you --

 4 A. No, that's not my signature.

 5 Q. Did you or someone on your behalf deliver this --

 6 A. Yes.

 7 Q. -- to the U.S. Attorney's Office?

 8 A. Yes.

 9 Q. Was this actually filed with the court in this matter?

10 A. Yes.

11 Q. And the date of filing, do you see it there on the

12 document?

13 A. December 8th, 2008.

14 Q. And this is a document that was filed by you.

15 A. Yep.

16 Q. Let's start at the top where it has your name, Kathy

17 Wahler, purported defendant.

18 A. Uh-huh.

19 Q. The third line says, "Buncombe:  The county."  What is

20 the significance of referring to the county in th at fashion?

21 A. Honestly, I don't know.

22 Q. This is a document that you filed --

23 A. I know.  I know.

24 Q. -- without your husband's assistance; isn't thi s correct?

25 A. Exactly.  Right.
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 1 Q. Why is there a box around the zip code?  Is the re some

 2 significance to which you would attach to that ha ving filed

 3 this document?

 4 A. Because I was told that they -- somebody did it  for me.

 5 Q. Not your husband.

 6 A. No.

 7 Q. Did you do this at someone else's direction?

 8 A. I did it -- they were trying to help in -- in s olving --

 9 in trying to solve this whole thing and so there were people

10 out there that were saying, okay, you can do this .  You can do

11 that.  And...

12 Q. This is not a lawyer.  It's not one of your law yers here

13 that filed these documents for you.

14 A. No, it was not.

15 Q. And --

16 A. Because they are standby counsel.  And I had be en -- I

17 was still trying to trust in someone that I thoug ht would --

18 would know.  This person has been to law school.  He is not a

19 bar attorney.  And if I am correct, he is also a rabbi.

20 Q. Do you see the language there, "Acceptance of c harges?"

21 A. Yep.

22 Q. And that's some of the same language that is us ed in the

23 documents which were filed in the matters before the court;

24 isn't that correct?

25 A. Yes, it is.  I've been told that there are pena l sums
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 1 that go along with these court cases and that if the penal sum

 2 is taken care of, that it cancels the court case.   And I was

 3 desperate.  My children don't have their father a nd I'm just

 4 flopping around out here trying to figure out wha t to do.  I

 5 was asked to make a plea bargain that would have me sit up

 6 here and lie to you.  I have been told, well, may be you don't

 7 want to be married to your husband anymore after this is all

 8 over with.  But folks, I took a vow before God.  We're not bad

 9 people.

10 Q. Well, ma'am, I would like to ask you some quest ions.

11 Government's Exhibit 212.  This is already in evi dence.

12 A. Yes, it is.

13 Q. The date of this filing?

14 A. (No response.)

15 Q. The date this was filed --

16 A. Oh.

17 Q. -- in this matter?

18 A. Excuse me, December 31st, 2008.

19 Q. Once again, does your signature appear on this court

20 filing?

21 A. Yep.

22 Q. And this was actually a document that you filed  with the

23 court in this matter?

24 A. Yes, I did.

25 Q. And obviously, this was not drafted by your hus band,
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 1 correct?

 2 A. Nope.

 3 Q. And this is entitled what?

 4 A. Third Notice of Post Settlement and Closure of the

 5 Account Under Public Policy.

 6 Q. Again, does the acceptance, conditional accepta nce,

 7 settlement enclosure, acceptance of charges, all language used

 8 in the documents alleged in the bill of indictmen t.  This

 9 document you filed with the court contains that s ame language;

10 isn't that correct?

11 A. Yes, but I felt I had to do something.

12 Q. This was, again, as I understand your testimony , not with

13 court-appointed standby counsel, correct?

14 A. Yes.

15 Q. Government's Exhibit 213, which is already in e vidence.

16 Do you recognize Exhibit 213 as a filing in this matter?

17 A. Uh-huh.

18 Q. Do you see documents here with -- do those appe ar to be

19 your signature?

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. And these are documents that you filed with the  court.

22 A. Yeah.  And the notary was just notarizing my si gnature,

23 not what was in the document.

24 Q. Well, you filed this with the court; is that co rrect?  On

25 your behalf.
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 1 A. Uh-huh.

 2 Q. And this is entitled Submission of Named Defend ant for

 3 Settlement and Closure, correct?

 4 A. Uh-huh.

 5 Q. And does that document appear familiar to you?

 6 A. Uh-huh.

 7 Q. And that is in fact your birth certificate, is it not?

 8 A. Yes, it is.

 9 Q. And what's written across your birth certificat e?

10 A. I was told to write "Accepted for value."

11 Q. Not by your husband.

12 A. Nope.

13 Q. By someone whose legal advice you sought.

14 A. He was -- he was sought by my husband for legal  advice

15 before we were picked up.  So I felt that he knew  what was

16 going on.  Had talked with Ed before -- he was li ke one of the

17 last ones to talk with him so he would know what my husband's

18 wishes were and how to handle things.

19 Q. And it's your testimony here before the jury th at it was

20 in following your husband's witness that these ch arges were

21 brought forward -- following your husband's wishe s; is that

22 your testimony?

23 A. Yes.

24 Q. Although once again, your husband did not direc t you to

25 file these documents; is that correct?
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 1 A. He couldn't tell me to do it, but I was going o n the fact

 2 that this is the person he had spoke to.  This is  the person

 3 that --

 4 Q. And who is this person?

 5 A. -- he trusted.

 6 Q. Who's the person that helped you with these fil ings?

 7 A. Does that have a bearing on this case?

 8 Q. You have testified that this is a person who as sisted

 9 with these filings that you put before the court.   Who was

10 that individual?

11 A. Sean Rice.

12 Q. Where is Mr. Rice now?

13 A. I don't know.  I haven't talked to him in -- wh at's it

14 been?  He took a sabbatical.  It's been a couple months.

15 Q. What was his status the last time you spoke wit h him?

16 A. I really didn't ask.  All I asked was is do you  have any

17 information for me to help us in this case.

18 Q. Is he under indictment in federal court in Neva da?

19 A. I know he -- he -- something had happened.  I d on't know

20 what the status is of that.

21 Q. All right.  Government's Exhibit 214 which has been

22 admitted.  The date on Government's Exhibit 214?

23 A. May 28th, 2009.

24 Q. And the title of this document?

25 A. This is Private Remedy Notice of Affidavit of A dmissions
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 1 in Commerce by Negative Averment.  Administrative  Notice,

 2 Beneficiary Under Contract Law of Power of Attorn ey of Limited

 3 Fiduciary Trusteeship Duty to the Public Trusts o f Office in

 4 case number.

 5 Original Issue and of Defendant's Acceptance of t he Claim

 6 or case number and the case number.

 7 Q. And the first -- first line, number one?

 8 A. "I, Kathy Wahler, appear and state under penalt y of

 9 perjury that the following is true and correct."

10 Q. And did you also date this particular document,

11 Government's Exhibit 215 -- excuse me, 214 prior to its

12 filing?  Is that your verification --

13 A. Yes, ma'am.

14 Q. -- contained on page 32 of 33?

15 A. Yes, ma'am.

16 Q. And what does the verification say above your s ignature?

17 A. "Do say upon my own unlimited commercial liabil ity, that

18 I have read the above affidavit and notice and do " the

19 contents thereof --

20 Q. And do what the contents thereof?

21 A. Oh, "do know the contents thereof to be true, c orrect and

22 not misleading, the truth and nothing but the tru th, and that

23 I do believe the acts of the U.S.D.C. set forth t herein have

24 been committed contrary to law."

25 Q. And the U.S.D.C., is that referring to the Unit ed States
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 1 District Court?

 2 A. I don't know.

 3 Q. And you indicated that you had read all of -- a ll of this

 4 document prior to its filing; is that correct?  T hat's what

 5 you just stated.

 6 A. Yeah.

 7 Grasping at straws.

 8 But in my defense, let me say --

 9 Q. I haven't asked you a question.  If you'll just  --

10 THE COURT:  Well, she can complete her answer if you

11 need to.

12 THE WITNESS:  Thank you, sir.

13 In my defense, let me say that the verbiage in th ese

14 documents were the same and along the same lines as what my

15 husband had done.  I had no reason to believe any  different

16 other than what other people were saying to me.  Now, I've had

17 expert witnesses up here today tell me that, okay , this --

18 this verbiage is garbage.  Okay.  I contend with that.  I

19 acknowledge that now.  But at the time I was stil l relying on

20 what I had seen, bits and pieces of this and that , that may,

21 okay, this is -- this goes along the same lines.  Okay.  That

22 would make, you know, would make sense.

23 Q. Who is -- how long have you known Robert Clarks on?

24 A. Let's see.  I've been familiar with him when Ed  started

25 going to the Patriot meetings, which would have b een -- I
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 1 don't know.  I -- I became aware of him when Ed s tarted doing

 2 meetings and doing that.  And he would have him t o the home --

 3 to the house to eat and I fixed a meal and I -- b ut I truly

 4 don't know.

 5 Q. And just -- I know you said earlier that you re call

 6 following your arrest you spoke with Agent Romagn uolo.  Who

 7 was Art Patton?

 8 A. He is a friend of Ed's in Asheville.

 9 Q. And Bob P.?  Pelletier?

10 A. Pelletier.  Uh-huh.  His wife is named Peggy.  His phone

11 number is in my phone because Bob is shorter than  Peggy.

12 Q. And Keith Livingway?

13 A. Another friend of Ed's.

14 Q. Is his number also in your phone?

15 A. It was.

16 Q. Sean Rice.

17 A. Uh-huh.

18 Q. Who is Sean Rice?

19 A. We've already gone over that.

20 Q. That's the individual from whom you've been see king legal

21 advice?

22 A. Whom we had been, yes.

23 Q. And T.J. Henderson?

24 A. He's a friend in Iowa.

25 Q. Is he someone that you and your husband met thr ough the
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 1 Patriot Network?

 2 A. No.  I was friends with his previous wife.

 3 Q. You indicated that you ran items to the post of fice for

 4 your husband but never paid attention to what tho se items

 5 were.

 6 A. From time -- I mean, you're handed mail.  You d on't go

 7 through and look and see what each piece is.

 8 Q. The registered mail required a little more hand s on

 9 involvement before that --

10 A. Not if -- not if he fills out everything in adv ance and

11 everything is just there and you hand it to them and they do

12 whatever they do and they hand it back to you and  you pay

13 them.

14 Q. And you were required to sign on those receipts ; is that

15 correct?

16 A. What -- what -- what do you mean sign on receip ts?  Just

17 if you paid with a credit card.

18 Q. On the mailing receipts.

19 A. I don't understand.

20 Q. Let me just show you.

21 I'm going to show you what's --

22 A. Okay.

23 Q. -- previously been admitted as Government's Exh ibit 61.

24 Do you see that receipt there from April 22nd of '03?

25 A. Oh, okay.
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 1 Q. You signed a number of those; is that fair to s ay?

 2 A. Okay.  Yeah.  I can see -- I see where you're t alking

 3 about now.  The from and the to, okay.  And, yeah , there were

 4 some that had my name on them.

 5 Q. I'm also going to show you what's been previous ly marked

 6 as Government's Exhibit 245.  It has been admitte d.  Are you

 7 able to see Government's Exhibit 245?

 8 A. Uh-huh.

 9 Q. And what is that, if you recall?

10 A. Looks like an account balance on a Chase credit  card.

11 Q. And was that credit card held in your name?

12 A. It looks to be held in my name.  I really don't  remember

13 since it was so long ago and I haven't had it -- I haven't had

14 cards in forever.

15 Q. In relation to these credit cards, we've heard a lot

16 about the checks sent to them during the course o f this

17 testimony.  Did you ever speak with individuals f rom those

18 credit card companies about the checks you had se nt?

19 A. I don't know.  Honestly, I cannot remember.

20 Q. This is part of Exhibit 245.  It's dated May 18 th, 2004.

21 A. Uh-huh.

22 Q. Is that your signature?

23 A. Uh-huh.

24 Q. Do you recall this communication?

25 A. I would be willing to bet you that Ed typed it up and I
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 1 signed it.  Because I never did -- I mean, I know  this --

 2 you're going to get tired of hearing it and it so unds

 3 unplausible.  He handled it; I just signed it.  W hy were all

 4 the checks in my name?  Why did the account get o pened in my

 5 name?  I don't remember.  There was something and  I really --

 6 I just don't remember.  And he said do it, we did  it.

 7 Q. All right.  I'm going to show you what's been m arked and

 8 admitted as Government's Exhibit 215.  This is ag ain a court

 9 filing.  What is the date on this Exhibit 215?

10 A. October -- I mean, excuse me, no.  August 19, 2 009.

11 Q. And once again, that is a document that you fil ed with

12 the court without your husband's assistance, corr ect?

13 A. Yes, I did file this.  Because I had been told that I

14 needed to do -- if you'll turn the page.  Because  I had been

15 told that I needed to do a -- this is what I thin k it is.

16 That I had been told I needed to do a revocation of the power

17 of attorney so no one would act on my behalf with out my

18 knowledge.

19 Q. And so this filing was certainly with your know ledge,

20 correct?  In that you signed it, filed it.

21 A. Yeah.

22 Q. And of course, above your signature, I, Kathy W ahler, did

23 in fact give the truthful testimony, correct?

24 A. Uh-huh.

25 Q. And then there's attached a document about the flag with
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 1 the gold fringe.  Do you recall that document?

 2 A. Uh-huh.  Yeah.  I've -- I had to start looking at all

 3 this stuff and I read this little article thing a nd I said

 4 okay.

 5 Q. So this was not something someone else asked yo u to file.

 6 This was something that upon your research you fe lt was

 7 significant --

 8 A. Yeah.

 9 Q. -- to this case.

10 A. And there again, I wouldn't have been researchi ng it had

11 I not been thrown into this.

12 Q. And is it your contention, then, that this is a  military

13 courtroom?

14 A. My contention is is that it doesn't matter.  It  is a

15 court of law.  And we're here.  And...

16 Q. You said this document was significant to you.

17 A. At the time I thought it was.

18 Q. This is back in August of this year.

19 A. Exactly.

20 Q. All right.  Thank you, ma'am.

21 A. And I had -- I had talked to the person about t hat, and

22 after I had done it, realized that we didn't quit e see eye to

23 eye.

24 Q. But this is -- you said you researched and file d on your

25 own.
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 1 A. Well, I had read about it and put it in and tho ught,

 2 okay, this -- you know, but there again, I was gr asping at

 3 straws because I couldn't talk to my husband.  Ha d no other --

 4 I didn't know where to turn.  Truly did not know where to

 5 turn.  And I just was like okay.  And all these p eople, you

 6 know, you should do this, look at this.  Da da da  da da da,

 7 you know.  When I should have just said, okay, I' ll just go in

 8 and I'll tell you my story and that will be that.

 9 MS. ROSE:  Thank you very much.

10 THE COURT:  Okay.  We'll take a ten minute recess ,

11 members of the jury.

12 (Brief recess at 3 o'clock p.m.)

13 (Jury not present.)

14 THE COURT:  Mr. Wahler, are you going to testify

15 next?

16 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  No.

17 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  No, we're going to call Agent

18 Romagnuolo next.

19 THE COURT:  All right.

20 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I need to ask counsel a questi on

21 first, please.

22 (Counsel and defendant conferred.)

23 THE COURT:  Now, what we normally do --

24 MR. BURGESS:  I apologize, Your Honor, I need to go

25 up here and make a request.
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 1 THE COURT:  Go ahead.

 2 (Mr.~ Burgess and the clerk conferred.)

 3 THE COURT:  What we normally do with defendants i n

 4 custody who are testifying, we'll put them -- wit h the leg

 5 irons, we put them in the witness box before the jury even

 6 comes out.  They're sworn in the witness box.  An d then when

 7 they're done, the jury leaves and then they come back to

 8 counsel table.

 9 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  I don't think we're goi ng

10 to get to there this afternoon.  We're going to c all Agent

11 Romagnuolo at this time.

12 THE COURT:  All right.  When it happens -- when o ne

13 of y'all gets ready to do that, though, if you're  okay with

14 the usual procedure, then we'll have to send the jury out

15 first.  So you can just tell me who's going to te stify next

16 and we'll take care of that.

17 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  That will be fine.  I'm

18 all right with that.  Yeah, we're okay.

19 THE COURT:  All right.  May we have the jury,

20 please.

21 (Jury entered the courtroom.)

22 THE COURT:  All right.  The jury is seated.  You may

23 call your witness.

24 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Defendant calls FBI Agent Andr ew

25 F. Romagnuolo.
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 1 THE COURT:  You've already been sworn.  You may t ake

 2 the stand.

 3 ANDREW F. ROMAGNUOLO, 

 4 having been previously duly sworn, was examined a nd testified 

 5 further as follows: 

 6 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

 7 BY DEFENDANT HUGHES:  

 8 Q. Good afternoon, Mr.  Romagnuolo.

 9 A. Good afternoon, Mr. Hughes.

10 Q. Could you explain to the court and just kind of  give a

11 brief summary to the court of your training in la w which you

12 are expected to use in the course of your investi gations.

13 A. I attended the new agents training at Quantico,  Virginia,

14 at the FBI academy for 26 weeks, from December of  1997 to

15 April of 1998.

16 Additionally, I've received specialized training as a

17 crisis negotiator.  That was a two-week course.

18 I've also received specialized training as an Evi dence

19 Response Team member.  And I participated as an E vidence

20 Response Team team leader for 10 of my 12 years i n the FBI.

21 I have additional training regarding internationa l

22 terrorism, domestic terrorism, Indian country mat ters.  And

23 additional training if you'd like to go into a sp ecific area.

24 Q. Not a specific area.  What university or colleg e level

25 courses in law have you taken?
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 1 A. I took basic criminal justice courses at the St ate

 2 University of New York at Brockport.

 3 Q. Okay.  And have you pursued a degree in law?

 4 A. No.

 5 Q. Okay.  Just wondered.  Thank you.

 6 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I'm sorry, he was asking a

 7 question.

 8 (Defendants conferred.)

 9 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  We've got so many documents in

10 front of us now we're having trouble finding who' s got which

11 documents, so if you would pardon us for the conf usion.

12 Kathy, would you work the viewer for us.  I'm gla d

13 somebody knows how to work the viewer.

14 Q. Can you see that?

15 A. I can.

16 Q. Okay.  Would you read the paragraph that starts  in --

17 would you -- I'm sorry, try it again.

18 Could you read the paragraph --

19 THE COURT:  Wait just a minute.  It will be

20 important for you to identify the document that y ou're using.

21 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Oh, I'm sorry.

22 Q. This is a page out of the filing in the lawsuit  against

23 Mr.  Romagnuolo in Washington, DC, which was file d in early

24 2008 and which has been entered into the court re cord on

25 behalf of the plaintiff.
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 1 THE COURT:  All right.

 2 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I mean the defendants.

 3 THE COURT:  You may ask him questions about that

 4 lawsuit unless there's objection.  But as far as just reading

 5 from it, this witness didn't prepare it according  to what

 6 you're saying, so it would be inappropriate for y ou to just

 7 have him sit here and read it.

 8 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Then I need a copy of

 9 Title 28 of the U.S. Code, Section 535 because th at's what I'm

10 going to have him read.

11 THE COURT:  Well, that's another thing.

12 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  That's what's printed in the

13 document here.  That's what I want him to read.

14 THE COURT:  Well, I'm saying that the court is no t

15 going to allow just the reading of a statute with out laying

16 some basis for why you would want to do that.  Yo u haven't

17 asked him a question yet --

18 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Oh, okay.

19 THE COURT:  -- that calls for a reading of the

20 statute.

21 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Oh, well, I was going to ask h im

22 what this statute said his duties were.

23 THE COURT:  Well --

24 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  That was going to be my first

25 question.
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 1 THE COURT:  You can ask him about that.

 2 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

 3 THE COURT:  But you need to tie it to something i n

 4 the case.

 5 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I think this does, so --

 6 THE COURT:  Well, ask a question that ties it in if

 7 you wouldn't mind.

 8 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

 9 Q. The -- let me see how to do this.

10 Does Title 28 of the United States Code, Section 3 -- 535

11 set forth the duties of government officers and e mployees and

12 their limitations as opposed to their investigati ve authority?

13 A. If this is a quote of Title 28, U.S.C., Section  535,

14 then, no, this section does not describe that.  I t describes

15 investigations of crimes involving government off icers and

16 employees, which is the investigation of governme nt officers.

17 Q. Good.  Does it in any way authorize you to inve stigate a

18 citizen domiciled upon a state?

19 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

20 THE COURT:  Overruled.

21 A. My authority is derived from Title 28, Section 533 which

22 gives the attorney general the authority to appoi nt

23 investigators to investigate matters of federal l aw.  This

24 section is talking about investigations of govern ment

25 officials involved in some type of crime.
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 1 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Then I need to see Title 28:53 3,

 2 please.

 3 THE COURT:  Well, why don't you ask him a questio n

 4 about it.

 5 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Since I don't know the wording  of

 6 535, I don't know how to frame my question -- or 533, I'm

 7 sorry.  I was afraid this might happen.

 8 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Yeah, me too.

 9 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Until I can see the wording of

10 533, I don't know whether my next couple of quest ions are

11 appropriate or not.  What does 533 say?

12 THE COURT:  Well, we'll allow you the leeway to a sk

13 a question based on what you assume that statute says.

14 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

15 Q. Can you give me a section of the U.S. Code whic h

16 authorizes an FBI agent to go on to the soil of a  sovereign

17 state to investigate one of the citizens who is s overeign on

18 that state?

19 A. I don't accept your assertion that there is sov ereign

20 soil.  The United States of America is my jurisdi ction and as

21 a person within the United States, you are subjec t to my

22 jurisdiction if you engage in matters that consti tute crimes

23 of Title 18.

24 (Defendants conferred.)

25 BY DEFENDANT HUGHES: 
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 1 Q. All right.  Based upon your answer, I will buil d upon

 2 that when I do my narrative -- when I testify and  so I'm going

 3 to refrain from the next question.

 4 When the FBI seizes property at a given location,  if you

 5 are given written notice that the seized property  is owned by

 6 someone else and you are not required -- are you not required

 7 to return the property to the rightful owner afte r a

 8 reasonable amount of time, say, three months or s o, unless

 9 that property is going to be put on display in a court case?

10 A. Are you asking me in relation to a search warra nt, sir?

11 Q. I'm asking you in relation to property that was  seized at

12 my domicile.

13 A. As testified before, an authorized federal sear ch warrant

14 was obtained for your residence and the property from your

15 residence was seized in accordance with that sear ch warrant.

16 And the FBI maintains that evidence until the mat ters under

17 its investigation, and if it goes to prosecution,  through

18 prosecution and appeal.  So we would maintain it until all the

19 criminal matters are done with.

20 Q. That's a good answer, but you didn't answer my question.

21 A. That is the answer that I have for you.  Could you

22 restate the question, then.

23 Q. Okay.  First off, I don't have a residence in W ashington

24 state.  I have a domicile.  At that location was also a

25 business operation with an office and a business license.
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 1 When the FBI seized property at that given locati on, after

 2 some period of time, if you are given notice that  property

 3 seized at that location was not owned by the part y named in

 4 the search warrant and you are given notice of wh o the

 5 rightful owner of that property is, are you not r equired to

 6 return that property to the rightful owner?

 7 A. Who specifically are we talking about, sir?  Wh o gave me

 8 notice of that?

 9 Q. Hughes Micro Corporation.

10 A. Well, the search warrant related to yourself an d Hughes

11 Micro Corporation, it was for the residence locat ed at

12 215-15th Street, Snohomish, Washington.  So if we  collected

13 evidence pursuant to the list of items to be seiz ed, we will

14 maintain it until the court case is concluded and  appeals are

15 concluded.

16 Q. So you make no distinction between a business o peration

17 and what a man does in his private time?

18 A. We execute search warrants on private residence s and

19 businesses, sir.  And your residence, and if you deem it to be

20 a business, was the subject of a search on that d ate and we

21 collected evidence and will continue to maintain it.

22 Q. Okay.  On the three computers which were identi fied to

23 you as belonging to Hughes Micro Corporation, did  you find any

24 documents that were in any way related to the cau se of action

25 before this court?
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 1 A. I don't recall specifically from your computers  as we

 2 collated that information by database searches.  I can't say

 3 that I looked at every document from your compute rs, but they

 4 are in evidence.  Is there something specific you  would like

 5 me to look at from your computer, sir?

 6 Q. Yes.  The fact that nothing even remotely relat ed to this

 7 case exists on any of the three computers which b elonged to

 8 Hughes Micro Corporation.

 9 A. I can't definitively state that there's not.

10 THE COURT:  Wait just a minute.  First of all, yo u

11 don't ask him questions; he asks you questions.

12 THE WITNESS:  Yes, sir.

13 THE COURT:  Second of all, you don't make stateme nts

14 of fact by way of testimony from the questioning position

15 you're in.  So just ask the question, please.

16 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Well, he had turned on me

17 so I turned around on him.  So thank you.

18 Q. Given that you have not found any documents on the three

19 computers which were identified to you by Hughes Micro

20 Corporation as belonging to the corporation, why have you

21 continued to hold them?

22 A. I think I've answered that.  Anything that we c ollected

23 in relation to the search warrant we will maintai n until the

24 end of the case.  It's evidence.

25 Q. Okay.  Does 28 U.S.C. 533 give you the authorit y to
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 1 investigate citizens who are foreign to the U.S. that are

 2 outside of the United States?

 3 A. In certain instances crimes against United Stat es

 4 citizens overseas do fall under the jurisdiction of the FBI.

 5 In relation to this case, there was not a subject  that fell

 6 without the jurisdiction of the United States.

 7 Q. And where would you say the jurisdiction of the  United

 8 States is?

 9 A. Within the United States of America, the Contin ental

10 United States, Alaska, Hawaii, and United States protectors.

11 Q. So my understanding is, then, that you feel tha t the

12 jurisdiction of the United States is any soil any where within

13 the 50 several states?

14 A. My jurisdiction includes what I have described and it's

15 by statute.  It's not a feeling, sir.

16 Q. Okay.  Would you please tell me what the statut es

17 describe the United States as being.

18 A. My jurisdiction is derived from that Title 28:5 33,

19 executive orders and other jurisdiction ascribed to me by law,

20 and the United States is the United States of Ame rica.

21 THE COURT:  Mr. Lewis Hughes, I think we've

22 exhausted this subject.  You'll need to move to s omething

23 else.

24 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

25 Did you print out the arrest warrants?

Case 1:08-cr-00055-RLV-DCK   Document 186    Filed 12/07/10   Page 100 of 132



   639

 1 (Counsel and defendant conferred.)

 2 THE COURT:  Mr. Hughes, let me ask you if your ne xt

 3 line of questioning would be to challenge somethi ng about the

 4 arrest warrant?

 5 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Yes, sir, it is.

 6 THE COURT:  That will be ruled out of order.  It' s

 7 not relevant to the case before us.

 8 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I believe it's very relevant,

 9 sir.  Could I explain why?

10 THE COURT:  No, sir.  I'll hear you outside the

11 presence of the jury at the appropriate time, but  not take up

12 time with it now.

13 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

14 Q. Okay.  What I had Kathy put on the viewer is Ti tle 27 of

15 the Code of Federal Regulations, specifically Sec tion 72.11.

16 In the middle of the screen is -- what we are loo king at

17 is the meaning of terms as used in the courts and  in the

18 regulations and by the government.  In the middle  of the

19 screen is a section that says, "Commercial crimes .  Any of the

20 following types of crimes, federal or state, offe nses against

21 the revenue laws; burglary; counterfeiting; forge ry;

22 kidnapping; larceny; robbery; illegal sale or pos session of

23 deadly weapons; prostitution, including solicitin g, procuring,

24 pandering, white slaving, keeping house of ill fa me, and like

25 offenses; extortion; swindling and confidence gam es; and
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 1 attempting to commit, conspiring to commit or com pounding any

 2 of the foregoing crimes.  Addiction to narcotic d rugs and use

 3 of marijuana will be treated if such were a comme rcial crime."

 4 Would you say that swindling and confidence games  would

 5 be equivalent to fraud?

 6 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

 7 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 8 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

 9 Q. Do you agree that what I just read says that al l of these

10 crimes are commercial in nature?

11 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

12 THE COURT:  Sustained.

13 Q. What do you think this means, then?

14 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

15 THE COURT:  Well, sustained.

16 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  All right.  We'll move on.

17 Q. In a number of my documents and a number of tim es before

18 this court, I have declared myself to be a free w hite man.  Do

19 you recognize me as being a free white man?

20 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

21 THE COURT:  Sustained.

22 Q. Okay.  I am looking at amendment -- I mean Arti cle XIII

23 of the Bill of Rights which specifically prohibit s involuntary

24 servitude and peonage.  Am I a free white man or am I

25 property?
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 1 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

 2 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 3 Q. Do you happen to know where the term free white  man comes

 4 from when describing a citizen on a state?

 5 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

 6 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 7 Q. Do you know if it comes from the Articles of

 8 Confederation?

 9 THE COURT:  Let me make myself clear since you're

10 not experienced as counsel, but we -- I've sustai ned the

11 objection to these individual questions and I'm a lso

12 sustaining the objection to the general line of q uestioning.

13 So you'll have to move to another subject.

14 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

15 MS. ROSE:  Object to this document, Your Honor,

16 without further identification and showing the re levance.

17 THE COURT:  Sustained.  

18 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  He made a statement in answeri ng

19 a question a moment ago that he does not recogniz e a sovereign

20 state and does not recognize sovereignty.  So my question is

21 does he think the courts know what they are talki ng about when

22 they describe sovereignty?

23 THE COURT:  I've sustained an objection to that l ine

24 of questioning also.

25 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Very well.  We'll move
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 1 forward.

 2 Q. In 1909 -- let me rephrase that since I'm suppo sed to ask

 3 a question.  Are you acquainted with a law enacte d in 1909

 4 which says that anything but a title or a last na me is a

 5 corporation or other commercial entity?

 6 A. I'm not familiar with that.

 7 Q. Okay.  Does a birth certificate have spaces lab eled first

 8 name, last name, middle name?

 9 A. Well, a birth certificate would contain that in formation

10 if it was properly filled out.

11 Q. All right.  Would you say, then, that a birth c ertificate

12 is a registration of some commercial entity?

13 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

14 THE COURT:  Sustained.

15 Q. Can you tell me, then, why a registered birth c ertificate

16 is sent to the Department of Commerce?

17 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

18 THE COURT:  Sustained.

19 Q. Does my true and correct name appear on any doc ument

20 generated by this court?

21 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

22 THE COURT:  Overruled.

23 A. Lewis Vincent Hughes, it appears on the indictm ent and

24 other documents.

25 Q. The only Lewis Vincent Hughes I've seen on the indictment
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 1 is in all capital letters which the law I just as ked you about

 2 says has a last name and therefore is a commercia l entity.  Do

 3 you not agree?

 4 A. If your assertion is that your name in all capi tal

 5 letters is a commercial entity and then how you w rite your

 6 name on other documents, for instance, it's appea red as

 7 Lewis-Vincent:  Hughes, or some combination of th ose to

 8 separate yourself, that is part of the Redemption  scheme

 9 philosophy that separates -- it's called straw ma n.  It

10 separates -- or their assertion is that it separa tes their

11 commercial entity from their living being.  But t hat is part

12 of the scheme as well.

13 Q. Do you know what the Styles manual is which is put out by

14 the United States Government printing office?

15 A. I'm not familiar with it, sir.

16 Q. Does title 21 of the Styles manual say that any thing

17 written in all capital letters represents a corpo ration, ship

18 or vessel?

19 A. I'm not familiar with that.

20 Q. Okay.  We'll move on.  I've asked this question  to the

21 court before and had not gotten an answer.

22 I am acquainted with three persons named Lewis Vi ncent

23 Hughes.  One is registered in the State of Washin gton, one is

24 registered in the State of Pennsylvania, and one is registered

25 in the State of New Mexico.  There may possibly b e others with
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 1 the same name.  Which one of these persons is the  defendant or

 2 is some other person named Lewis Vincent Hughes, the

 3 defendant?

 4 A. My answer to you is that you are Lewis Vincent Hughes.

 5 You are the person that we've identified that goe s with the

 6 residence 215-15th Street, Snohomish, Washington.   So that's

 7 you, sir.

 8 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  David, did you get me a copy o f

 9 Executive Order 6260 yet?

10 MR. BURGESS:  Can I have a moment?

11 (Counsel and defendant conferred.)

12 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  We seem to have a little bit o f

13 disconnect on -- between David and I on getting t he documents

14 that I need.  I keep writing him out notes and I apologize

15 that I don't have them as I need them.  So the li ne of

16 questioning that I was just pursuing I'm going to  have to

17 probably do it on testimony or something else.

18 THE COURT:  You can move on to something else and

19 we'll come back to that after the jury departs if  necessary.

20 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Okay.  We'll go a

21 different direction.

22 Q. Agent Romagnuolo, were you the manager or contr oller, or

23 whatever the proper term might happen to be, for the actions

24 which were brought against me on Washington the s tate?

25 MS. ROSE:  Object.
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 1 THE COURT:  Sustained.

 2 Q. Do you have -- do you acknowledge that there is  a

 3 difference between the State of Washington and Wa shington, the

 4 state?

 5 A. No.

 6 Q. Are you aware that Washington, the state and co untry,

 7 came into existence November 4, 1878, and that th e State of

 8 Washington came into existence in 1889?

 9 A. I'm not familiar with the history of the State of

10 Washington, but I don't differentiate between wha t we know as

11 the State of Washington and what you assert the S tate of

12 Washington is.

13 Q. Okay.  Then would you not be -- or would you th erefore

14 then not be aware that the U.S. Secretary of Stat e,

15 Condoleezza Rice --

16 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

17 THE COURT:  Sustained.

18 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I hadn't even got close to ask ing

19 the question.  What's the problem?

20 THE COURT:  Well, this is the type of thing that --

21 you're not aware of it, but when you get an objec tion

22 sustained and there's evidence -- the evidence th erefore has

23 been limited, you're entitled after the jury leav es to put

24 into the record that which the answer would have been so that

25 you can complain about it on appeal if there ever  were an
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 1 appeal.

 2 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Ah, okay.  Then I got a whole

 3 pile of questions after the jury leaves.

 4 THE COURT:  Exactly.

 5 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I'm sorry, what?

 6 THE COURT:  Yes.

 7 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Good.  Good.  Good.  As

 8 long as we get it in the record.

 9 This may be down the same road, but I'll see.

10 Q. Are you aware that the Washington Supreme Court  is

11 located in Walla Walla and that the Supreme Court  of the State

12 of Washington is located in Olympia?

13 A. I'm not familiar with where they're located.

14 Q. Okay.  Are you aware that information about bot h courts

15 is on display in the lobby of the Temple of Justi ce in

16 Olympia.  Temple of Justice houses the Supreme Co urt in the

17 State of Washington.

18 A. I've never been to Washington state.

19 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Then because of your

20 previous limitation, I can't continue on with tha t question.

21 Q. Have you ever seen or read my Declaration of Ci tizenship

22 on Washington state which removes all presumption  that I am a

23 U.S. citizen, that is, a United States citizen?

24 A. That may have been attached to the fraudulent l awsuit you

25 filed against me, but I don't recall reading the whole thing
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 1 and I'm not entirely sure.

 2 Q. Are you aware that the United States District C ourt,

 3 Western District for Washington, has recognized t hat I am a

 4 Washington state citizen only and not a U.S. citi zen in two

 5 different proceedings?

 6 A. I'm not familiar with that.

 7 Q. Okay.  I would like to at this time show you th e document

 8 that I just referenced.

 9 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  If you could put that up there .

10 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Actually, they put this

11 into evidence already with the picture, remember?

12 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Right.  He hasn't -- he hasn't

13 seen.

14 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Right, the first page.

15 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  And we couldn't read it

16 before.

17 Q. Okay.  So do you recognize what the information

18 underneath the bar code is?

19 MS. ROSE:  Your Honor, just for the record, this is

20 not a document that has been entered into evidenc e by the

21 government.

22 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Actually, I believe it has.  I

23 believe it's one of your exhibits.

24 MS. ROSE:  No, sir, it's not.

25 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  You had it up on the screen th e
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 1 other day and we couldn't quite read it, so...

 2 MR. BURGESS:  Your Honor, just to clarify, I thin k

 3 that was a photograph of something lying there.  So just mark

 4 it -- identify it as a number.

 5 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Oh, is that how I do it, then?

 6 THE COURT:  Mark it as the defendant's next exhib it

 7 for identification.

 8 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  It's D.

 9 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  I ask that this be ente red

10 as Exhibit D.

11 THE CLERK:  What's the title of the document, sir ?

12 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I'll show you in just a moment .

13 THE CLERK:  Okay.

14 Q. Okay.  Do you recognize what the information un derneath

15 the bar code is, sir?

16 A. There's a series of numbers, the date and time,  the

17 dollar amount of $79, and the words Snohomish Cou nty,

18 Washington, with a bar code.

19 Q. Would you know what that represents?

20 A. It appears to be a filing stamp.

21 Q. Very good.  And what is the title of the docume nt?

22 A. In the upper left-hand corner --

23 Q. No, no, no.  Where it says Document Title.

24 A. Notice.

25 Q. Thank you, sir.  And who is the notice to under  the word
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 1 "grantee?"

 2 A. The public.

 3 Q. Thank you.

 4 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Next page.

 5 Q. And there's a title to the document.  Would you  please

 6 read that.

 7 A. When recorded mail to --

 8 Q. No, no, no.  The title for the document, please , sir.

 9 A. Affidavit and Declaration of Citizenship, Dwell ing, and

10 Sovereign Status of Lewis Vincent.  This is an in ternational

11 notice.

12 Q. Thank you, sir.

13 THE COURT:  Mr. Lewis Hughes, the court would ask

14 you to move to another line of questioning becaus e this one is

15 irrelevant in the court's view, and that's someth ing you may

16 challenge in due course.

17 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

18 Q. I direct your attention now to Title 8 of the U nited

19 States Code which is Immigration, Naturalization and

20 Citizenship.  Section 1481 has to do with loss of  nationality

21 and citizenship.  If you would be so kind as to r ead paragraph

22 2.

23 THE COURT:  Same ruling.

24 Q. Or A2.

25 THE COURT:  Same ruling.  Sustained.
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 1 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

 2 Q. Do you happen to know what the law of nations i s?

 3 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

 4 THE COURT:  Sustained.  

 5 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  When I want to ask thes e

 6 questions outside of the jury, do I get to questi on

 7 Mr. Romagnuolo?

 8 THE COURT:  Yes, sir.

 9 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Okay.  We can cover it

10 outside of the jury, then.

11 Well, I've got about five pages of questions, the n,

12 that you've barred the jury from hearing.

13 Q. Do you know what the Puget Sound Agricultural S ociety is?

14 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

15 THE COURT:  Sustained.

16 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Am I going to be allowed to as k

17 anything?  Apparently not.

18 THE COURT:  Any other questions?

19 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Yeah, just one.

20 DIRECT EXAMINATION 

21 BY DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  

22 Q. You mentioned in your testimony of my cross exa mine, I

23 guess, that you had an attorney to defend our fra udulent

24 lawsuit in DC, and that he entered into the recor d.  This is a

25 copy of the docket for that case.  Do you see any  such entry?
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 1 A. The one thing that I know that the DOJ attorney  did was

 2 notice the court that he represented me.  That's what I was

 3 informed of.  The other -- the other piece of inf ormation that

 4 I received was the order dismissing this civil la wsuit.

 5 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Okay.  Let the record

 6 reflect that there is no such entry of appearance  on the

 7 docket, please.

 8 THE COURT:  The court -- the court will sustain a n

 9 objection if there were one to the relevance of t his document.

10 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Okay.  It will be made

11 relevant on my testimony.

12 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  We're done with this witness

13 until the jury leaves.

14 THE COURT:  All right, sir.  You may step down.

15 (Witness stepped down.)

16 THE COURT:  Please call your next witness.

17 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Because you eliminated about t en

18 pages of questions, I'm not ready for the next wi tness.

19 THE COURT:  Well, one of you -- you know, we're i n

20 session for another probably 35 or so minutes any way, maybe

21 40.

22 (Defendants conferred.)

23 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  We would like you to ask the j ury

24 to be excused so that we can continue the line of  questioning

25 with Agent Romagnuolo.
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 1 THE COURT:  Well, we'll take that up at another

 2 time, but right now we have access to this jury s ince they

 3 understand -- now, what I want you to do is ident ify the next

 4 witness that might be called now.

 5 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  The next witness that I would

 6 call would be Agent Mike Peffer.

 7 THE COURT:  All right.  Is he available?

 8 MS. ROSE:  He was on standby.  I inquired at the

 9 break whether he would be needed today.

10 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I didn't -- I didn't expect to

11 need him today because, like I said, I have anoth er ten pages

12 of questions for Mr.  Romagnuolo.

13 MS. ROSE:  He is in -- we left him at his hotel

14 which is in Charlotte.  He did not return to Seat tle today.

15 So he is in the area and I'd be glad to --

16 THE COURT:  He'll be available in the morning?

17 MS. ROSE:  Yes, sir.

18 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I'll be ready for him first th ing

19 in the morning.

20 THE COURT:  All right.  We'll expect you to be re ady

21 to do your witnesses in the morning sequentially one after the

22 other without any delay.  That's how we'll do it.   And then

23 when that's all done and the jury is doing other things, then

24 we can hear all this questioning that you would l ike to enter

25 into the record.
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 1 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  That will be the last

 2 witness that I'm calling as far as I know given w hat else has

 3 transpired.

 4 THE COURT:  All right.  Members of the jury, than k

 5 you very much for your attention to the case toda y.  Please

 6 remember all the instructions and be with us, if you will, at

 7 9:30 in the morning.

 8 (Jury exited the courtroom.)

 9 THE COURT:  All right.

10 MS. ROSE:  If I may just inquire.  There were a

11 couple of other witnesses that were on standby.  I'd be happy

12 to have those here for the court's convenience if  needed

13 tomorrow.

14 THE COURT:  Well, let's hear defense counsel as t o

15 who you say your remaining witnesses will be, inc luding any

16 defendants.

17 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  We're calling ourselves .

18 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  We're calling ourselves, but a s

19 far as the two witnesses that we had reserved pos sibly

20 recalling, in light of what's transpired, we're n ot going to.

21 THE COURT:  All right, sir.  Do you want them cal led

22 for purposes of entering into the record any test imony they

23 might have offered?

24 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I'm sorry, I didn't understand .

25 THE COURT:  As I said to you earlier, when the co urt
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 1 sustains an objection to a line of questioning or  certain

 2 questions --

 3 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Oh, oh, oh.  No --

 4 THE COURT:  -- then the jury doesn't hear the

 5 answer, but you're entitled to get those answers into the

 6 record outside the presence of the jury if you wa nt to do

 7 that.

 8 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Everything that I know of that  we

 9 want to do at this time would be strictly with Ag ent

10 Romagnuolo.

11 THE COURT:  All right.  Now, just for -- go ahead .

12 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I believe we've abandoned the

13 line that we were taking with the other two witne sses.

14 THE COURT:  All right.  Well, just for informatio n,

15 the two of you would expect to testify, and then would you

16 want to talk to Mr. Peffer in the morning?

17 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I would call Mr. Peffer first

18 witness in the morning, yes, sir.

19 THE COURT:  All right.  And then after that, I ta ke

20 it we would send the jury out and put one of y'al l in the box

21 and then we would have your testimony and then th e other one

22 of you.

23 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Right.

24 THE COURT:  And that would be it as far as witnes ses

25 as far as you know now.
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 1 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Right.  At this time I plan to  go

 2 first and then Ed will follow me.

 3 THE COURT:  All right, sir.  Very well.

 4 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  And --

 5 THE COURT:  Now --

 6 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Now, relative to that, I have

 7 problems preparing for this because I can't get a nything to

 8 write with in the jail except every once in a whi le.  I tried

 9 all night last night to get my pencils sharpened so that I

10 could do some writing.  I finally got them sharpe ned during

11 breakfast this morning; and as soon as I finished  breakfast,

12 they pulled me out of the pod and put me in the b ooking area

13 for an hour and a half.  I didn't even get a chan ce to take a

14 shower this morning, which normally I take a show er right

15 after breakfast.  So I need some assistance in be ing able to

16 get paper and pencil so that I can write out an o utline of

17 what I'm to talk about tomorrow.

18 THE COURT:  Well, we'll ask the marshal to make s ure

19 the jail personnel understands that he has to hav e access to

20 writing and pad at all times when he is in any of  the

21 facilities around that jail.

22 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  The other problem, I'm still n ot

23 getting adequate nutrition.  Nothing has been don e about my

24 meals.  For dinner last night I had a half a cup of applesauce

25 and two cookies.  That was it.
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 1 THE COURT:  You didn't eat the whole cup of

 2 applesauce?

 3 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  No, sir, it was a half a cup o f

 4 applesauce and it was highly sweetened with artif icial

 5 sweetener and there is no nutrition whatsoever in  that.

 6 Nothing to drink.  Nothing else.  That was it.

 7 THE COURT:  Well, we've been in touch with the

 8 authorities over there about that and we'll tell them to

 9 comply with their obligations.

10 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Well, what they tell me is the ir

11 food service is contracted.  The contractors prep are the

12 evening meal between breakfast and lunch and that  there's

13 nobody there to provide anything other than the - - what they

14 provide all the rest of the inmates, which I can' t eat.

15 THE COURT:  Well, did you get your double sandwic h

16 today?

17 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  No, sir, I did not.

18 THE COURT:  Would ask the marshal to rectify that

19 tomorrow.

20 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Yes, sir, appreciate it.  And

21 what I got was a straight vegetarian which was ju st bread,

22 lettuce and two slices of tomato and a little bit  of onion.

23 There's no protein or anything in that.  So I'm r unning at a

24 terrible sugar deficit right now.

25 THE COURT:  All right, sir.  Thank you.
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 1 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  So if they could bring me a tu na

 2 fish, double tuna fish sandwich tomorrow, I'd sur e appreciate

 3 it.

 4 THE COURT:  All right.

 5 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Thank you for your help.

 6 THE COURT:  We'll put Agent Romagnuolo on the sta nd.

 7 Take the stand.

 8 (Witness resumed the witness stand.)

 9 THE COURT:  All right.  You may commence to ask

10 questions in those areas where your questioning i s limited.

11 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Thank you, sir.

12 THE COURT:  And I would expect the government wou ld

13 object when it deems it appropriate, although we' ll probably

14 be letting answers come in just for the proffer.

15 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  He already started packing up,

16 I'm sorry.  Give us just a moment.

17 MS. ROSE:  Are you looking for the last document you

18 identified?

19 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  No.

20 MS. ROSE:  Okay.

21 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  In answer to my question earli er,

22 Mr.  Romagnuolo challenged the validity that the state was

23 sovereign and that citizens on the state were sov ereign, so I

24 want to show that the courts have held that such exists.  And

25 I direct your attention to a quote from Yick Wo versus

Case 1:08-cr-00055-RLV-DCK   Document 186    Filed 12/07/10   Page 119 of 132



   658

 1 Hopkins, 118 U.S. 356, page 370, where it says, "While

 2 sovereign powers are delegated to the government,  sovereignty

 3 itself remains with the people."

 4 And then in a separate case it says, "There is no

 5 such thing as a power of inherent sovereignty in the

 6 government of the United States.  In this country  sovereignty

 7 resides in the people and Congress can exercise n o power which

 8 they have not, by their Constitution entrusted to  it.  All

 9 else is withheld."  Juilliard versus Greenman, 110 U.S. 421.

10 I believe I could probably find you about a dozen

11 other court cases in which the Supreme Court has held that the

12 state is sovereign.

13 THE COURT:  Well, what question do you have for t he

14 witness?

15 ANDREW ROMAGNUOLO 

16 VOIR DIRE EXAMINATION 

17 BY DEFENDANT HUGHES:  

18 Q. So in light of the fact that the Supreme Court has held

19 the states are sovereign, how does U.S. -- does 2 8 U.S.C. 533

20 give you authority to investigate citizens on one  of the

21 several states which are foreign to the United St ates?  That

22 is, they're outside of the United States.

23 MS. ROSE:  Objection as asked and answered.

24 THE COURT:  Well, it's sustained, but go ahead an d

25 answer it.
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 1 A. The State of Washington is within the United St ates of

 2 America and subject to my jurisdiction.

 3 Q. I will totally agree with that if you are talki ng about

 4 the State of Washington as formed in 1989.  Is th at the one

 5 you're referring to?  The one which joined the Un ion called

 6 the Federal Corporation of United States?  Is tha t the one

 7 you're referring to?

 8 A. I only understand the State of Washington to be  one

 9 entity.  I don't think there are separate states of

10 Washington.

11 Q. Okay.

12 A. And as far as citizenship goes on a general lev el, I

13 contacted the state department during this case a nd spoke to

14 them about what -- what is required to renounce y our

15 citizenship to the United States of America.  And  in order to

16 do so, you have to travel outside of the country.   Go to a

17 United States embassy.  Fill out the state depart ment

18 documents that renounce your citizenship and then  turn over

19 whatever documents that you have that identify yo u as a United

20 States citizen.  Then in order to get back into t he United

21 States, you have to establish residency and citiz enship in

22 another country in order to travel back.  That's my

23 understanding of renunciation of citizenship, and  I think

24 that's the issue you're asking me.

25 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Put this up on the viewer.
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 1 THE COURT:  All right.  Now, Mr. Lewis Hughes, it

 2 looks like you're proposing to put up a statute a nd I --

 3 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Yes, sir.

 4 THE COURT:  -- want to advise you that if you're on

 5 appeal on an issue related to any of these matter s, you're

 6 entitled to quote any and all laws or cases or la nguage from

 7 cases that you see fit to cite or quote.

 8 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

 9 THE COURT:  And so there's no limit on that.  So the

10 only useful -- useful thing we can do with our ti me now is

11 take questions from this witness.  So you need to  ask him

12 things that might be within his personal knowledg e.

13 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Well, I'm going to -- he just

14 testified to his personal knowledge and I want to  refute it by

15 showing him what the statute says.

16 THE COURT:  I'm saying you can do that by showing

17 any and all law that you want to show.

18 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Correct.

19 THE COURT:  But I've ruled that this discussion i s

20 irrelevant to this case.  Now, you can take that up on appeal

21 and cite all the case law and statutes that you w ant to.

22 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  All right.  Never mind.

23 Did you get the arrest warrant?

24 Am I going to be allowed to pursue the question o f

25 the arrest warrant?

Case 1:08-cr-00055-RLV-DCK   Document 186    Filed 12/07/10   Page 122 of 132



   661

 1 THE COURT:  Yes, sir.

 2 MS. ROSE:  I would object as to relevance for the

 3 record.

 4 THE COURT:  Well, it's irrelevant to the current

 5 case.  Now, if your arrest was improper, then it should have

 6 been raised long before now.

 7 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  It was.  It was.

 8 THE COURT:  Well, and I take it, then, it's been

 9 ruled on.

10 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  No.  I've never seen anybody r ule

11 on the issue.

12 Did you take my marker out?  No, it's a different

13 one.  Wrong book.

14 MR. BURGESS:  I don't have that.  If the court wa nts

15 to let him use it, if we could print it out.

16 THE COURT:  Well, if it's something you can find on

17 the docket sheet.

18 MR. BURGESS:  It would be on the docket sheet.

19 THE COURT:  I have no problem having it printed o ut.

20 THE CLERK:  We're talking about the warrant in th is

21 case, correct?

22 MR. BURGESS:  Yes, ma'am.

23 THE CLERK:  Yeah, I think I can print out the one

24 that was...

25 THE COURT:  But the arrest warrant would be a mat ter
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 1 of record already then if, in fact --

 2 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Right.

 3 THE COURT:  -- it is part of the record.

 4 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  If we don't need to look at it ,

 5 then I can -- I can just go ahead.

 6 THE COURT:  Yes, sir, please do.

 7 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Looking at Supplemental

 8 Rules for Admiralty, specifically Rule C, subpara graph 3,

 9 subparagraph A.  It says, "Arrest Warrant.  The c ourt must

10 review the complaint and any supporting papers.  If the

11 conditions for an interim action appear to exist,  the court

12 must issue an order directing the clerk to issue a warrant for

13 the arrest of the vessel or other property that i s the subject

14 of the action."

15 I believe if you will examine the arrest warrant,  the

16 only one who signed it is the clerk of court.  I can find no

17 statute, code, rule, regulation which authorizes a clerk of

18 court to issue an arrest warrant for a man, only for property.

19 And in light of the law of 1909 which says that a nything with

20 a last name, anything with a title is a corporati on or other

21 commercial entity, I would enter into the record that this

22 arrest warrant is for property only.

23 THE COURT:  All right.  Your objection is duly

24 noted.

25 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.
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 1 Q. Then I will ask the question of Mr. Romagnuolo,  does he

 2 have any evidence that Congress has ever authoriz ed a clerk of

 3 court to issue an arrest warrant for a free white  man?

 4 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

 5 THE COURT:  Sustained.  And he needn't answer tha t

 6 because of the way the question is phrased.

 7 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay. 

 8 Q. Then I'm going to ask if you recognize me to be  a free

 9 white man?

10 THE COURT:  Sustained for the same reason and he

11 needn't answer.

12 Q. Then am I considered property?

13 THE COURT:  Well, let me say this for the record,

14 that if your objection to the person who signed t he arrest

15 warrant is well taken, then that -- that issue ca n be raised

16 based on the arrest warrant itself.  That would b e a legal

17 matter, and I don't believe this witness would ha ve anything

18 to add to it.

19 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.

20 Q. I think I got cut off on this question.  I'm no t sure

21 where we're at, but Mr. Romagnuolo, would you say  that a birth

22 certificate is a registration of some commercial entity based

23 on the law of 1909 which says anything with a las t name is a

24 corporation or a commercial entity?

25 MS. ROSE:  I object to that as well, Your Honor, for
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 1 the record.

 2 THE COURT:  Sustained.  But if you have an answer ,

 3 you may give it.

 4 A. I don't know.

 5 Q. Would you happen to know why the registered bir th

 6 certificate is then sent to the Department of Com merce?

 7 A. I don't know that it is.

 8 Q. Okay.  Are you familiar with the definition of the word

 9 "person" as it appears in Executive Order 6260, d ated

10 August 28, 1933?

11 A. No, I've never read it.

12 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Did you find that, David?

13 MR. BURGESS:  I haven't been able to get a copy o f

14 that.  I don't have it.  Do you know where it is?

15 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I can almost quote it.

16 Q. In paragraph 2 of Executive Order 6260 is the d efinition

17 for a person.  So not being familiar with it, the n you

18 wouldn't know that a person is defined as a corpo ration, an

19 association, an unincorporated corporation, a par tner, a ship,

20 a vessel or other artificial entity, as well as s ome other

21 things that I don't quite remember what all of th em are.  So

22 you wouldn't be familiar with that.

23 A. I don't know.

24 Q. Okay.  Section 2, "Definition as used in this o rder.  The

25 term person means an individual, partnership, ass ociation,
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 1 corporation, ship, vessel."  

 2 And "the term United States means the United Stat es and

 3 anyplace subject to the jurisdiction thereof."

 4 So now you're familiar with it.

 5 THE COURT:  Let me ask --

 6 MS. ROSE:  Objection.

 7 THE COURT:  Let me ask the parties to comment on a

 8 procedural matter.

 9 Rule 103 talks about the effect of an erroneous

10 ruling.  This is the rules of evidence.  And it s ays, "Error

11 may not be predicated upon a ruling which admits or excludes

12 evidence unless a substantial right of the party is affected.  

13 "And in the case the ruling is one excluding

14 evidence," this is Section 2, "the substance of t he evidence

15 was made known to the court by offer or was appar ent from the

16 context within which questions were asked."

17 Now, in fairness, I wanted to make some effort to

18 let the defendant get in the record the substance  of the

19 evidence that he is offering, and I believe I can  do that by

20 letting him or any of the defendants comment on w hat they seek

21 to elicit.

22 It's also true that none of this would perhaps ma ke

23 a lot of difference on appeal except where a subs tantial right

24 of the party is affected.

25 So let me ask the government if you wish to comme nt
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 1 on that before I ask the defendant the same quest ion.  Now

 2 we're talking here about whether we're wasting ti me or not.

 3 MS. ROSE:  Well, it appears that we are revisitin g

 4 the jurisdictional issues that the court has prev iously ruled

 5 upon, and there are numerous filings within the r ecord by the

 6 defendants regarding whether this court has juris diction over

 7 them.  Given what we've heard, it appears that th at is an

 8 issue which is being revisited.  The law is well settled.  The

 9 court has ruled on it.  And I would submit to the  court that

10 this is not a matter that would be defined as sub stantial

11 under Rule 103.

12 THE COURT:  Do you want to be heard on that?

13 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Yes, sir.  I think this is a v ery

14 fundamental issue.  It directly affects my freedo m.  It goes

15 to the heart of the matter of the laws of whether  or not a

16 person can be a citizen on a state.  Whether or n ot that state

17 is sovereign and separate from the jurisdiction o f the United

18 States.

19 It goes to where -- whether or not the United Sta tes

20 has a jurisdiction on one of the organic states o r whether it

21 only has jurisdiction in the corporation state.

22 It addresses the issue of whether or not a right --

23 a person has a right as guaranteed by the law of nations which

24 the United States is a signature party to, the Un ited Nations

25 Human Rights Accord of 1958.  It says a person ha s a right to
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 1 be a citizen of any political group he chooses.

 2 And so there is a number of fundamental issues he re

 3 that determine whether -- whether or not my freed om is at

 4 stake.  Because if you're not recognizing the law  of nations

 5 and if you're not recognizing the organic state i s unique,

 6 separate and distinct from the corporation state,  which is a

 7 subdivision of the federal corporation, then you' re ignoring

 8 numerous court cases such as Shelby versus Norton  -- Norton

 9 versus Shelby County out of Tennessee, among others, which

10 clearly establish that there is a very unique dif ference

11 between the organic state and the corporation sta te.

12 And so I don't know where to go.  I mean, this is

13 very fundamental to me.

14 THE COURT:  Well, I think it's correct that we've

15 already ruled on most if not all of the issues th at you have

16 raised.  Certainly we've ruled that the court has  jurisdiction

17 to try this case.

18 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  But I've never seen anything i n

19 writing.

20 THE COURT:  Well, but the court doesn't have to

21 prove to you that.  The court has to rule on that .  And I have

22 done that.

23 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  That's not what I've read in t he

24 past so I'm confused.

25 THE COURT:  Well --
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 1 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I mean, that's --

 2 THE COURT:  -- I'm sorry about that.

 3 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  I'm sorry?

 4 THE COURT:  I've tried to be as clear as I can ab out

 5 it.  But the court's ruling about this jurisdicti onal issue

 6 and the human rights accord, the law of nations, all those

 7 things the court finds are not relevant to the cu rrent trial

 8 because they have either already been ruled on or , in any

 9 event, they have -- you have made the substance o f your

10 objection known.  And it's further the view of th is court that

11 this witness wouldn't have anything to add to tha t.  So in

12 other words, your disagreement with the court is preserved for

13 appeal as far as this judge is concerned for all purposes.

14 MS. ROSE:  And if I just could make it clear for the

15 court.  The court actually did in document 36 rul e.  The

16 government responded to that particular filing of  the

17 defendant.  The court filed an order on August 11 th of 2008

18 dismissing -- Defendant's Motion to Dismiss the I ndictment was

19 denied, which also addressed the motions for lack  of

20 jurisdiction.

21 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  However, I would rebut

22 that, Your Honor, that -- I brought that up.  Tha t motion

23 relied on 18 U.S.C. 3231 which there is absolute

24 uncontroverted evidence in this court that 3231 d oes not exist

25 at law and the prosecution has never offered one shred of
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 1 counter rebuttal.  So I mean, she can't rely on s omething she

 2 put in there when we've already destroyed it.

 3 THE COURT:  Well, the statute has -- is one that the

 4 court takes judicial notice of, and it's in the s tatute book.

 5 So that's what the court is relying on.  And of c ourse, you

 6 disagree with that and you're entitled to take th at to a

 7 higher court.

 8 Is there any other subject matter besides

 9 jurisdiction or anything of the nature we've been  looking at

10 that you would like to ask this witness?

11 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Well, there's -- I want to reb ut

12 his statement about loss of citizenship and natio nality.

13 Title 8 --

14 THE COURT:  No, I'm not going to let you make a

15 statement of law because that's -- it's just not appropriate.

16 It's a waste of time for the current purposes.

17 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Okay.  Then -- then basically

18 you're telling me I can't introduce what's import ant to my

19 freedom.

20 THE COURT:  You can introduce on appeal any and a ll

21 statutes, cases, and other legal materials that y ou think are

22 relevant.

23 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Uh-huh.

24 THE COURT:  So we'll take our recess for the nigh t.

25 I think a couple more sandwiches are being brough t in for the
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 1 defendants.

 2 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Thank you, sir.

 3 DEFENDANT EDWARD WAHLER:  Thank you.

 4 DEFENDANT HUGHES:  Thank you.  Very appreciative.

 5 (Evening recess at 4:45 p.m.)
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